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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

As generally used in the energy industry and in this document, the following terms have the following meanings:

/d—per day

MMBtu—million British thermal units
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CROSSTEX ENERGY, L.P.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(dollars in thousands)

 

June 30,
2004  

December 31,
2003  

 (Unaudited)  (Restated)  

Assets



Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 738 $ 166
Accounts receivable:

Trade 15,090 10,238
Accrued revenues 201,401 124,517
Imbalances 494 447
Related party 448 1,618
Note receivable 677 535
Other 2,445 2,588

Fair value of derivative assets 7,569 4,080
Prepaid expenses and other 4,926 1,979

Total current assets 233,788 146,168
Property and equipment:

Property and equipment 338,798 228,386
Accumulated depreciation (33,374) (24,477)

Property and equipment, net 305,424 203,909
Intangible assets, net 5,886 5,366
Goodwill, net 4,873 4,873
Investment in limited partnerships 410 2,560
Other assets, net 3,920 3,174

Total assets $554,301 $366,050
Liabilities and Partners’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Drafts payable $ 26,983 $ 10,446
Accounts payable 4,589 6,325
Accrued gas purchases 202,185 119,900
Accounts payable—related party 213 448
Accrued imbalances payable 1,558 212
Fair value of derivative liabilities 3,369 2,487
Current portion of long-term debt 50 50
Other current liabilities 21,021 10,872

Total current liabilities 259,968 150,740
Long-term debt 124,650 60,700
Deferred tax liability 13,224 —
Minority interest in subsidiary 2,419 —
Fair value of derivative liabilities 25 —
Partners’ equity:

Common unit-holders (8,747,326 and 8,716,000 units issued and outstanding at June 30, 2004 and
December 31, 2003, respectively) 114,957 116,780

Subordinated unit-holders (9,334,000 units issued and outstanding at June 30, 2004 and
December 31, 2003) 31,323 33,593

General partner interest (2% interest with 369,007 and 368,000 equivalent units outstanding at
June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively) 3,580 2,854

Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,155 1,383
Total partners’ equity 154,015 154,610
Total liabilities and partners’ equity $554,301 $366,050

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROSSTEX ENERGY, L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
(In thousands, except per unit amounts)

(Unaudited)

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30,  

       2004              2003              2004              2003        

Revenues:
Midstream $ 507,744 $ 224,030 $ 825,957 $ 469,345
Treating 7,568 5,222 14,712 10,477

Total revenues 515,312 229,252 840,669 479,822
Operating costs and expenses:

Midstream purchased gas 485,212 214,071 788,088 451,479
Treating purchased gas 1,487 2,035 2,863 4,451
Operating expenses 10,316 3,335 16,529 6,545
General and administrative 4,741 1,891 8,332 3,391
Stock based compensation 269 568 478 3,072
Profit on energy trading activities (826) (738) (1,246) (845)
(Gain) loss on sale of property (22) — 274 —
Depreciation and amortization 5,921 2,611 10,339 5,046

Total operating costs and expenses 507,098 223,773 825,657 473,139
Operating income 8,214 5,479 15,012 6,683

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (2,186) (465) (3,341) (875)
Other 112 (39) 204 (1)

Total other income (expense) (2,074) (504) (3,137) (876)
Income before minority interest and income tax 6,140 4,975 11,875 5,807
Minority interest in subsidiary (70) — (99) —
Net income before income tax 6,070 4,975 11,776 5,807
Income tax expense (129) — (129) —



Net income $ 5,941 $ 4,975 $ 11,647 $ 5,807

General partner interest in net income $ 1,393 $ 155 $ 2,442 $ 172

Limited partners’ interest in net income $ 4,548 $ 4,820 $ 9,205 $ 5,635
Net income per limited partners’ unit:

Basic $ 0.25 $ 0.33 $ 0.51 $ 0.39
Diluted $ 0.24 $ 0.32 $ 0.48 $ 0.38

Weighted average limited partners’ units outstanding:
Basic 18,081 14,600 18,077 14,600
Diluted 19,156 14,842 19,122 14,732

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROSSTEX ENERGY, L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Partners’ Equity

Six Months ended June 30, 2004
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Common
units

Subordinated
units

General
partner
interest

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income Total  

Balance, December 31, 2003 (Restated) $ 116,780 $33,593 $ 2,854 $ 1,383 $ 154,610
Stock based compensation 197 210 71 — 478
Distributions (6,779) (7,234) (1,787) — (15,800)
Net income 4,451 4,754 2,442 — 11,647
Proceeds from exercise of unit options 308 — — — 308
Hedging gains or losses reclassified to earnings — — — (1,395) (1,395)
Adjustment in fair value of derivatives — — — 4,167 4,167
Balance, June 30, 2004 $ 114,957 $31,323 $ 3,580 $ 4,155 $ 154,015
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

5

CROSSTEX ENERGY, L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

  Six months ended June 30,  

        2004             2003       

Net income $11,647 $ 5,807
Hedging gains or losses reclassified to earnings (1,395) 952
Adjustment in fair value of derivatives 4,167 (1,953)

Comprehensive income $14,419 $ 4,806
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROSSTEX ENERGY, L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 Six months ended June 30,  

          2004                   2003          

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 11,647 $ 5,807



Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 10,339 5,046
Loss on investment in affiliated partnerships (200) (121)
Non-cash stock based compensation 478 3,072
Loss on sale of property 274 —
Minority interest in subsidiary 99 —
Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisition effects:

Accounts receivable and accrued revenue (35,533) (36,917)
Prepaid expenses (2,533) (1,300)
Accounts payable, accrued gas purchases, and other accrued liabilities 39,758 58,896
Fair value of derivatives 179 (131)
Other 424 (1,426)

Net cash provided by operating activities 24,932 32,926
Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions to property and equipment (15,284) (17,267)
Asset purchases and acquisitions (73,013) (67,325)
Proceeds from sale of property 226 —
Additions to other non-current assets (145) (872)
Investments in affiliated partnerships (48) (646)

Net cash used in investing activities (88,264) (86,110)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings 276,000 236,600
Payments on borrowings (212,050) (160,400)
Debt issuance costs (1,091) —
Increase (decrease) in drafts payable 16,537 (17,785)
Distribution to partners (15,800) (4,291)
Proceeds from exercise of unit options 308 —
Offering costs — (622)

Net cash provided by financing activities 63,904 53,502
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 572 318

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 166 1,308
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 738 $ 1,626
Cash paid for interest $ 2,778 $ 753
Non-cash transactions, stock-based compensation $ 478 $ 3,072
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROSSTEX ENERGY, L.P.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2004
(Unaudited)

(1)   General

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to “we”,”us”,”our” or the “Partnership” mean Crosstex Energy, L.P. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Crosstex Energy, L.P. (the Partnership), a Delaware limited partnership formed on July 12, 2002, is engaged in the gathering, transmission, treating, processing and
marketing of natural gas. The Partnership connects the wells of natural gas producers to its gathering systems in the geographic areas of its gathering systems in order to
purchase the gas production, treats natural gas to remove impurities to ensure that it meets pipeline quality specifications, processes natural gas for the removal of natural gas
liquids or NGLs, transports natural gas and ultimately provides an aggregated supply of natural gas to a variety of markets. In addition, the Partnership purchases natural gas
from producers not connected to its gathering systems for resale and sells natural gas on behalf of producers for a fee.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q, are unaudited and do not include all the information
and disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. All adjustments that, in the opinion of management, are necessary for
a fair presentation of the results of operations for the interim periods have been made and are of a recurring nature unless otherwise disclosed herein. The results of operations
for such interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results of operations for a full year. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in our restated annual report on
Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003.

(a)   Income Taxes

The new entities the Partnership formed to acquire LIG Pipeline Company and its subsidiaries, as discussed more fully in Note 3, are treated as taxable corporations for
income tax purposes.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2004, the Partnership recognized a current tax expense of $129,000 on the LIG entities net taxable income. A deferred tax
liability of $13,224,000 was recorded at the acquisition date. The deferred tax liability represents future taxes payable on the difference between the purchase price and tax
basis of the net assets acquired based on our preliminary purchase price allocation.

(b)   Long-Term Incentive Plans

The Partnership applies the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB No. 25), and the related
interpretations in accounting for the long-term incentive plans. In accordance with APB No. 25 for fixed stock and unit options, compensation is recorded to the extent the fair
value of the stock or unit exceeds the exercise price of the option at the measurement date. Compensation costs for fixed awards with pro rata vesting are recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period. In addition, compensation expense is recorded for variable options based on the difference between fair value of the stock or unit
and exercise price of the options at period end.
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Had compensation cost for the Partnership been determined based on the fair value at the grant date for awards in accordance with SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock
Based Compensation, the Partnership’s net income would have been as follows (in thousands, except per unit amounts):

 Three months ended June 30,  Six months ended June 30,  

        2004               2003              2004             2003       

Net income, as reported $ 5,941 $ 4,975 $11,647 $ 5,807
Add: Stock-based employee compensation

expense included in reported net income 269 568 478 3,072
Deduct: Total stock-based employee

compensation expense determined under fair
value based method for all awards (317) (681) (580) (3,289)

Pro forma net income $ 5,893 $ 4,862 $11,545 $ 5,590
Net income per limited partner unit, as reported:

Basic $ 0.25 $ 0.33 $ 0.51 $ 0.39
Diluted $ 0.24 $ 0.32 $ 0.48 $ 0.38

Pro forma net income per limited partner unit:
Basic $ 0.25 $ 0.32 $ 0.50 $ 0.37
Diluted $ 0.23 $ 0.32 $ 0.48 $ 0.37

 

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for
Partnership unit grants in the six months ended June 30, 2004:

  2004  

Options Granted 356,779
Weighted average dividend yield 6.5%
Weighted average expected volatility 24%
Weighted average risk free interest rate 3.09%
Weighted average expected life 5
Contractual life 10
Weighted average of fair value of unit options granted $ 3.09

 

No Crosstex Energy, Inc. (CEI) options were granted to officers or employees in 2004. Stock based compensation associated with the CEI option plan with respect to
officers and employees is recorded by the Partnership since CEI has no operating activities, other than its interest in the Partnership.

CEI modified certain outstanding options attributable to its shares of common stock in the first quarter of 2003, which allowed the option holders to elect to be paid in
cash for the modified options based on the fair value of the options. The total number of CEI options which were modified was approximately 364,000. These modified
options have been accounted for using variable accounting as of the option modification date. The Partnership accounted for the modified options as variable options until the
holders elected to cash out the options or the election to cash out the options lapsed. CEI was responsible for paying the intrinsic value of the options for the holders who
elected to cash out their options. December 31, 2003 was the last valuation date that a holder of modified options could elect the cash-out alternative. Accordingly, effective
January 1, 2004, the remaining modified options are accounted for as fixed options. Beginning in the first quarter of 2003, the Partnership recognized stock compensation
expense based on the estimated fair value at period end of the options modified. The Partnership
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recognized stock-based compensation expense of approximately $3.1 million related to the variable options for the six months ended June 30, 2003.

In February 2004, 75,000 restricted shares in CEI were issued to senior management under its long-term incentive plan with an intrinsic value of $2,183,000. In
February 2004, 1,406 restricted units with an intrinsic value of $29,000 were issued to a director, at his election, for his 2004 annual director fee. These restricted units vest
over a five-year period and the intrinsic value of the units is amortized into stock based compensation expense over the vesting period.

(c)   Earnings per Unit and Anti-Dilutive Computations

Basic earnings per unit was computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of limited partner units outstanding for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2004 and 2003. The computation of diluted earnings per unit further assumes the dilutive effect of unit options.

Effective March 29, 2004, the Partnership completed a two-for-one split on its outstanding limited partnership units. All unit amounts for prior periods presented herein
have been restated to reflect this unit split.

The following are the unit amounts used to compute the basic and diluted earnings per limited partner unit for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003 (in
thousands):

  Three months ended June 30,  Six months ended June 30,  

         2004               2003              2004             2003       

Basic earnings per unit:
Weighted average limited partner units

outstanding 18,081 14,600 18,077 14,600
Diluted earnings per unit:

Weighted average limited partner units
outstanding 18,081 14,600 18,077 14,600

Dilutive effect of exercise of options
outstanding 1,075 242 1,045 132

Diluted units 19,156 14,842 19,122 14,732
 

All outstanding units were included in the computation of diluted earnings per unit.

(d)   New Accounting Pronouncement

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB No. 51. In December 2003, the



FASB issued FIN No. 46R which clarified certain issues identified in FIN 46. FIN No. 46R requires an entity to consolidate a variable interest entity if it is designated as the
primary beneficiary of that entity even if the entity does not have a majority of voting interests. A variable interest entity is generally defined as an entity where its equity is
unable to finance its activities or where the owners of the entity lack the risk and rewards of ownership. The provisions of this statement apply at inception for any entity
created after January 31, 2003. For an entity created before February 1, 2003, the provisions of this Interpretation must be applied at the beginning of the first interim or
annual period ending after March 15, 2004. In January 2004, the Partnership adopted FIN No. 46R and began consolidating its joint venture interest in the Crosstex DC
Gathering, J.V. (CDC), previously accounted for using the equity method of accounting.  The consolidated carrying amount for the joint venture is based on the historical
costs of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the joint venture since its formation in January 2003 which approximates the carrying amount of the assets,
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liabilities and non-controlling interests in the consolidated financial statements as if FIN No. 46R had been effective upon inception of the joint venture.

(2)   Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

In July 2004, we determined that clerical errors had occurred in 2002 accounting that resulted in certain reconciling items not being properly cleared from accounts
payable, accounts receivable and accrued gas purchases with an offsetting decrease in income of $1.7 million in 2002. As a result of correcting these errors, we have restated
our consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of changes in partners’ equity for the year ended December 31, 2003.

(3)   Significant Asset Purchases and Acquisitions

In April 2004, the Partnership acquired, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Crosstex Louisiana Energy, L.P., the LIG Pipeline Company and its subsidiaries (LIG Inc.,
Louisiana Intrastate Gas Company, L.L.C., LIG Chemical Company, LIG Liquids Company, L.L.C. and Tuscaloosa Pipeline Company) (collectively, “LIG”) from American
Electric Power (“AEP”) in a negotiated transaction for $73.0 million. LIG consists of approximately 2,000 miles of gas gathering and transmission systems located in 32
parishes extending from northwest and north-central Louisiana through the center of the state to south and southeast Louisiana. The Partnership financed the acquisition in
April through borrowings under its amended bank credit facility.

We have utilized the purchase method of accounting for this acquisition with an acquisition date of April 1, 2004. The purchase price and our preliminary allocation
thereof are as follows (in thousands):

Cash paid to AEP $ 69,898
Lease obligations bought out 671
Transaction costs 2,444

Total Purchase Price $ 73,013
Assets acquired:

Current assets $ 45,172
Property plant & equipment 92,027
Intangibles 1,000

Liabilities assumed:
Current liabilities (51,962)
Deferred tax liability (13,224)

Total Purchase Price $ 73,013
 

The purchase price allocation for the LIG acquisition has not been finalized because the post closing settlement has not been completed and the Partnership’s valuation
consultant has not issued its report related to the purchase price allocation.

On June 30, 2003, the Partnership completed the acquisition of certain assets from Duke Energy Field Services, L.P. (DEFS) for $68.1 million, including the effect of
certain purchase price adjustments. The assets acquired included:  the Mississippi pipeline system, a 12.4% interest in the Seminole gas processing plant, the Conroe gas plant
and gathering system and the Alabama pipeline system. The Partnership has accounted for this acquisition as a business combination in accordance with SFAS No. 141,
Business Combinations. We have utilized the purchase method of accounting for this acquisition with an acquisition date of June 30, 2003.

Operating results for the DEFS assets have been included in the Statements of Operations since June 30, 2003 and operating results for the LIG assets have been included
in the Statements of Operations
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since April 1, 2004. The following unaudited pro forma results of operations assumes that the DEFS acquisition and the LIG acquisition occurred on January 1, 2003 (in
thousands, except per unit amounts):

 Pro Forma (unaudited)  

 

Three months
ended June 30,  Six months ended June 30,  

 2003        2004             2003       

Revenue $ 478,636 $ 1,075,248 $ 987,166
Net income 3,460 10,287 1,718
Net income per limited partner unit $ 0.23 $ 0.44 $ 0.11

 

(4)   Investment in Limited Partnerships and Note Receivable

The Partnership owns a 7.86% weighted average interest as the general partner in the five gathering systems of Crosstex Pipeline Partners, L.P. (CPP), a 20.31% interest
as a limited partner in CPP, 50% interest in the J.O.B. J.V. and a 50% interest in CDC. In January 2004, the Partnership began consolidating its investment in CDC pursuant to
FIN No. 46R. The Partnership accounts for its investments in J.O.B. J.V. and CPP under the equity method, as it exercises significant influence in operating decisions as a
general partner in CPP and as a 50% owner in the joint venture. Under this method, the Partnership carries its investments at cost and records its equity in net earnings of the
affiliated partnerships as income in other income (expense) in the consolidated statement of operations, and distributions received from them are recorded as a reduction in the
Partnership’s investment in the affiliated partnership.

In connection with the formation of CDC, the Partnership agreed to loan the CDC partner up to $1.5 million for its initial capital contribution. The loan bears interest at
an annual rate of prime plus 2%. CDC makes payments directly to the Partnership attributable to CDC partner’s 50% share of distributable cash flow to repay the loan. Any
balance remaining on the note is due in August 2007. The current portion of loan receivable of $677,000 from the CDC partner is included in current notes receivable as of
June 30, 2004. The remaining balance of $932,000 is included in other non-current assets as of June 30, 2004.



(5)   Long-Term Debt

As of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

 

June 30,
2004  

December 31,
2003  

Acquisition credit facility, interest based on Prime and/or LIBOR plus an
applicable margin, interest rates (per the facility) at June 30, 2004 and
December 31, 2003 were 4.25% and 2.92%, respectively $ 9,000 $20,000

Senior secured notes, weighted average interest rate of 6.95% and 6.93%,
respectively 115,000 40,000

Note payable to Florida Gas Transmission Company 700 750
124,700 60,750

Less current portion (50) (50)
Debt classified as long-term $ 124,650 $60,700

 

In conjunction with the April 2004 acquisition of the LIG Pipeline Company and its subsidiaries discussed in Note (3), the Partnership amended its bank credit facility to
increase the borrowing base under its senior secured revolving acquisition facility from $70 million to $100 million and to increase the borrowing base under its senior
secured revolving credit working capital and letter of credit facility from $50 million to $100 million. Additionally, the current ratio covenant was eliminated under this
amendment.
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In June 2004, the bank credit facility was further amended allowing for an increase in senior secured notes to $125 million and eliminating the minimum tangible net worth
covenant.

In June 2004, the Partnership completed a private placement offering of $75 million in senior secured notes with Prudential Capital Group. The notes mature in 10 years,
with an average life of eight years, have an annual coupon of 6.96% and are callable after three years at 103.5% of par. The notes were used to repay borrowings under the
Partnership’s revolving credit facility.

As part of the $75 million private placement, the Master Shelf Agreement governing the notes was amended, the following being the significant amendments:

·       increased the aggregate amount of notes that may be issued under the agreement to $125 million;

·       extended the issuance period from June 2006 to June 2007;

·       established a release of collateral provision should the Partnership obtain a senior unsecured debt rating of investment grade by certain rating agencies; and

·       provided a call premium on the $75 million placement beginning June 2007 through June 2013 at rates declining from 3.50% to 0%. The notes are not callable prior to
June 2007.

In October 2002, the Partnership entered into an interest rate swap covering a principal amount of $20 million for a period of two years. The Partnership is subject to
interest rate risk on its acquisition credit facility. The interest rate swap reduces this risk by fixing the LIBOR rate, prior to credit margin, at 2.29%, on $20 million of related
debt outstanding over the term of the swap agreement which expires on November 1, 2004. The Partnership has accounted for this swap as a cash flow hedge of the variable
interest payments related to the $20 million of the acquisition credit facility outstanding. Accordingly, unrealized gains or losses relating to the swap which are recorded in
other comprehensive income will be reclassified from other comprehensive income to interest expense over the period hedged.  The fair value of the interest rate swap at
June 30, 2004 was a $92,000 liability and is included in fair value of derivative liabilities.

(6)   Partners’ Capital

Cash Distributions

In accordance with the partnership agreement, the Partnership must make distributions of 100% of available cash, as defined in the partnership agreement, within 45 days
following the end of each quarter commencing with the quarter ending on March 31, 2003. Distributions will generally be made 98% to the common and subordinated
unitholders and 2% to the general partner, subject to the payment of incentive distributions to the extent that certain target levels of cash distributions are achieved. Under the
quarterly incentive distribution provisions, generally our general partner is entitled to 13% of amounts we distribute in excess of $0.25 per unit, 23% of the amounts we
distribute in excess of $0.3125 per unit and 48% of amounts we distribute in excess of $0.375 per unit. Incentive distributions totaling $1,301,000 and $2,254,000 were earned
by our general partner for the three months and six  months ended June 30, 2004. To the extent there is sufficient available cash, the holders of common units are entitled to
receive the minimum quarterly distribution of $0.25 per unit, plus arrearages, prior to any distribution of available cash to the holders of subordinated units. Subordinated
units will not accrue any arrearages with respect to distributions for any quarter.

The Partnership has declared a second quarter 2004 distribution of $0.42 per unit to be paid on August 19, 2004.
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(7)   Derivatives

The Partnership manages its exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices by hedging the impact of market fluctuations. Swaps are used to manage and hedge prices and
location risk related to these market exposures. Swaps are also used to manage margins on offsetting fixed-price purchase or sale commitments for physical quantities of
natural gas and NGLs.

The fair value of derivative assets and liabilities, excluding the interest rate swap, are as follows (in thousands):

  

June 30,
2004  

December 31,
2003  

Fair value of derivative assets—current $ 7,569 $ 4,080
Fair value of derivative assets—long term 10 —
Fair value of derivative liabilities—current (3,277) (2,278)
Fair value of derivative liabilities—long term (25) —
Net fair value of derivatives $ 4,277 $ 1,802
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Set forth below is the summarized notional amount and terms of all instruments held for price risk management purposes at June 30, 2004 (all quantities are expressed in
British Thermal Units). The remaining term of the contracts extend no later than December 2005, with no single contract longer than six months. The Partnership’s
counterparties to hedging contracts include Sempra Energy Trading Corp., Morgan Stanley Capital Group, BP Corporation, Duke Energy Trading and Marketing, and AEP
Energy Services. Changes in the fair value of the Partnership’s derivatives related to Producer Services gas marketing activities are recorded in earnings. The effective portion
of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income until the related anticipated future cash flow is recognized in
earnings.

June 30, 2004

Transaction type    

Total
volume  Pricing terms

Remaining term
of contracts  Fair value 

(in thousands)
Cash Flow Hedge:

Natural gas swaps cash flow
hedge 5,590,000

Fixed prices ranging from
$4.795 to $6.525 settling July 2004—December 2005 $ 6,280

Natural gas swaps cash flow
hedge (2,817,000)

against various Inside FERC
Index prices July 2004—December 2005 (1,481)

Total natural gas swaps cash flow hedge $ 4,799
Swing swaps cash flow

hedge(a) 3,100,000
Fixed prices ranging from
$5.965 to $6.275 settling July 2004—August 2004 $ (82)

Swing swaps cash flow
hedge (1,362,264)

against various Inside FERC
Index prices July 2004—August 2004 (121)

Total Swing swap cash flow hedge $ (203)
Natural gas

liquids (“NGLS”)
swaps cash flow
hedge (3,683,000)

Fixed prices ranging from
$.3775 to $.7450 settling
against Mt. Belvieu Average
of daily postings (non-TET) July 2004—December 2004 $ (350)

Total NGL swaps cash flow hedge $ (350)
Producer Services:

 

Marketing trading financial
swaps 480,000

Fixed prices ranging from
$4.64 to $5.945 settling July 2004—March 2005 $ 641

Marketing trading financial
swaps (450,000)

against various Inside FERC
Index prices July 2004—March 2005 (307)

Total marketing trading financial swaps $ 334
Physical offset to marketing

trading transactions 450,000
Fixed prices ranging from
$4.64 to $5.855 settling July 2004—March 2005 $ 333

Physical offset to marketing
trading transactions (480,000)

against various Inside
FERC Index prices July 2004—March 2005 (636)

Total physical offset to marketing trading transactions swaps $ (303)

(a)           Swing swaps are used to hedge the price exposure the Partnership has when it buys or sells a volume of gas at a first of the month index price and the other side of the transaction is
priced at a daily gas price during the month. The swing swap functions to hedge against this exposure by buying or selling a swap at a daily price offsetting a first of the month index
price or fixed price, where the Partnership’s daily price is the opposite of what it is physically buying or selling at a daily price.

On all transactions where the Partnership is exposed to counterparty risk, the Partnership analyzes the counterparty’s financial condition prior to entering into an
agreement, establishes limits, and monitors the appropriateness of these limits on an ongoing basis.

Assets and liabilities related to Producer Services that are accounted for as derivative contracts held for trading purposes are included in the fair value of derivative assets
and liabilities and Producer Services
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operating results are recorded net as profit (loss) on energy trading activities in the consolidated statement of operations. The Partnership estimates the fair value of all of its
energy trading contracts using prices actively quoted. The estimated fair value of energy trading contracts by maturity date was as follows (in thousands):

 Maturity periods   

 Less than one year  One to two years  Two to three years  Total fair value  

June 30, 2004 $ 31 — — $ 31
December 31, 2003 $ (26) — — $ (26)

 

(8)   Transactions with Related Parties

General and Administrative Expense Cap

The Partnership had a $6.0 million annual ($1.5 million quarterly) general and administrative cap for the twelve-month period ended in December 2003, per its
partnership agreement. CEI bore the cost of any excess general and administrative expenses. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2004, the Partnership had excess
expenses of approximately $0.7 and $1.0 million, respectively. The general partner is also reimbursed for direct charges it incurs on behalf of partnership business
development activities. Such charges totaled $0.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2003 and are included in general and administrative expenses.

Camden Resources, Inc.

The Partnership treats gas for, and purchases gas from, Camden Resources, Inc. (Camden). Camden is an affiliate of the Partnership by way of equity investments made
in Camden by Yorktown Energy Partners IV, L.P. and Yorktown Energy Partners V, L.P., collectively the major shareholder in CEI. During the three months ended June 30,
2004 and 2003, the Partnership purchased natural gas from Camden in the amount of approximately $10 million and $2.9 million, respectively, and received approximately
$13,000 and $76,000 in treating fees from Camden. The Partnership purchased natural gas from Camden in the amount of approximately $18.2 million and $5.5 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and received approximately $31,000 and $138,000, respectively, in treating fees from Camden.

Crosstex Pipeline Partners, L.P.

The Partnership had related-party transactions with Crosstex Pipeline Partners, L.P. (CPP), as summarized below:

·                    During the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, the Partnership bought natural gas from CPP in the amount of approximately $2.7 million and $2.6 million
and paid for transportation of approximately $10,400 and $9,700, respectively, to CPP. During the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, the Partnership bought



natural gas from CPP in the amount of approximately $4.9 million and $3.8 million and paid for transportation of approximately $22,000 and $23,000, respectively, to
CPP.

·                    During the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, the Partnership received a management fee from CPP of $31,000 in each period. During the six months ended
June 30, 2004 and 2003, the Partnership received a management fee from CPP of $63,000 in each period.

·                    During the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, the Partnership received distributions from CPP in the amount of approximately $30,000 and $20,000,
respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, the Partnership received distributions from CPP in the amount of approximately $51,000 and
$58,000, respectively.
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(9)   Commitments and Contingencies

(a)   Employment Agreements

Each member of senior management of the Partnership is a party to an employment contract with the general partner. The employment agreements provide each member
of senior management with severance payments in certain circumstances and prohibit each such person from competing with the general partner or its affiliates for a certain
period of time following the termination of such person’s employment.

(b)   Environmental Issues

The Partnership acquired two assets from DEFS in June 2003 that have environmental contamination, including a gas plant in Montgomery County near Conroe, Texas
and a compressor station near Cadeville, Louisiana. At both of these sites, contamination from historical operations has been identified at levels that exceed the applicable
state action levels. Consequently, site investigation and/or remediation are underway to address those impacts. The remediation cost for the Conroe plant site is currently
estimated to be approximately $3.2 million, and the remediation cost for the Cadeville site is currently estimated to be approximately $1.2 million. Under the purchase
agreement, DEFS has retained liability for cleanup of both the Conroe and Cadeville sites. Moreover, DEFS has entered into an agreement with a third-party company
pursuant to which the remediation costs associated with the Conroe site have been assumed by this third-party company that specializes in remediation work. Therefore, the
Partnership does not expect to incur any material environmental liability associated with the Conroe or Cadeville sites.

The Partnership acquired LIG Pipeline Company and its subsidiaries on April 1, 2004. Contamination from certain acquired sites from historical operations has been
identified that exceed the applicable state corrective action levels. The seller of the company retained liability for the remediation of these sites and has entered into an
agreement with a third party pursuant to which the remediation associated with these sites will be covered. In addition, the remediation by the third party is backed by an
environmental insurance policy. As a result, the Partnership does not expect to incur any material environmental liability associated with these sites.

Additionally, possible issues have been discovered with respect to Clean Air Act monitoring deficiencies. The Partnership has disclosed these deficiencies to the
Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality and is working with the department to correct permit conditions and address modifications to facilities to bring them into
compliance. The Partnership does not expect to incur any material environmental liability associated with these issues.

(c)   Other

The Partnership is involved in various litigation and administrative proceedings arising in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, any liabilities
that may result from these claims would not individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.

The Partnership receives notices from pipeline companies from time to time of gas volume allocation corrections related to gas deliveries on their pipeline systems.
These allocation corrections normally have little impact on the Partnership’s gross margin because the Partnership balances its purchases and sales in the pipelines and both
the purchase and sale on the pipeline system require corrections. As of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, a subsidiary of the Partnership was involved in a dispute related
to one such allocation correction with a pipeline company and a customer on that pipeline. As of December 31, 2003, the Partnership had recorded a receivable of $1.2 million
in other current receivables and a liability of $1.2 million in other current liabilities related to this allocation correction. The Partnership resolved this
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dispute during the second quarter of 2004 at no loss to the Partnership and the related receivables and payables will be collected and paid by the end of the third quarter.

(10)   Segment Information

Identification of operating segments is based principally upon differences in the types and distribution channel of products. The Partnership’s reportable segments consist
of Midstream and Treating. The Midstream division consists of the Partnership’s natural gas gathering and transmission operations and includes the Mississippi System, the
Conroe System, the Gulf Coast System, the Corpus Christi System, the Gregory Gathering System located around the Corpus Christi area, the Arkoma system in Oklahoma,
the Vanderbilt System located in south Texas, the LIG pipelines and processing plants located in Louisiana and various other small systems. Also included in the Midstream
division are the Partnership’s Producer Services operations. The operations in the Midstream segment are similar in the nature of the products and services, the nature of the
production processes, the type of customer, the methods used for distribution of products and services and the nature of the regulatory environment. The Treating division
generates fees from its plants either through volume-based treating contracts or though fixed monthly payments. Included in the Treating division are four gathering systems
that are connected to the treating plants and the Seminole plant located in Gaines County, Texas.

The Partnership evaluates the performance of its operating segments based on earnings before income taxes and accounting changes, and after an allocation of corporate
expenses. Corporate expenses are allocated to the segments on a pro rata basis based on assets. Inter-segment sales are at cost.

18

Summarized financial information concerning the Partnership’s reportable segments is shown in the following table. The information includes all significant non-cash
items.

 Midstream  Treating  Totals  

 (in thousands)  

Three months ended June 30, 2004:
Sales to external customers

$ 507,744 $ 7,568 $ 515,312
Inter-segment sales 1,415 (1,415) —



Interest expense, net (2,153) (33) (2,186)
Stock-based compensation expense 225 44 269
Depreciation and amortization 4,704 1,217 5,921
Segment profit 4,356 1,585 5,941
Segment assets 477,514 76,787 554,301
Capital expenditures 2,394 5,327 7,721

Three months ended June 30, 2003:
Sales to external customers $ 224,030 $ 5,222 $ 229,252
Inter-segment sales 2,405 (2,405) —
Interest expense, net 454 11 465
Stock-based compensation expense 454 114 568
Depreciation and amortization 1,895 716 2,611
Segment profit 4,100 875 4,975
Segment assets 340,814 11,751 352,565
Capital expenditures 10,583 2,441 13,024

Six months ended June 30, 2004:
Sales to external customers $ 825,957 $ 14,712 $ 840,669
Inter-segment sales 2,838 (2,838) —
Interest expense, net (3,283) (58) (3,341)
Stock-based compensation expense 400 78 478
Depreciation and amortization 8,264 2,075 10,339
Segment profit 8,076 3,571 11,647
Segment assets 477,514 76,787 554,301
Capital expenditures 6,741 9,031 15,772

Six months ended June 30, 2003:
Sales to external customers $ 469,345 $ 10,477 $ 479,822
Inter-segment sales 3,909 (3,909) —
Interest expense, net 856 19 875
Stock-based compensation expense 2,458 614 3,072
Depreciation and amortization 3,715 1,331 5,046
Segment profit 4,430 1,377 5,807
Segment assets 340,814 11,751 352,565
Capital expenditures 12,903 4,364 17,267
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Item 2.   Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included
elsewhere in this report.

Overview

We are a Delaware limited partnership formed by Crosstex Energy, Inc. on July 12, 2002 to acquire indirectly substantially all of the assets, liabilities and operations of
our predecessor, Crosstex Energy Services, Ltd. We have two industry segments, Midstream and Treating, with a geographic focus along the Texas Gulf Coast and in
Mississippi and Louisiana. Our Midstream division focuses on the gathering, processing, transmission and marketing of natural gas, as well as providing certain producer
services, while our Treating division focuses on the removal of carbon dioxide and hydrogen sulfide from natural gas to meet pipeline quality specifications. For the six
months ended June 30, 2004, 76% of our gross margin was generated in the Midstream division, with the balance in the Treating division. We focus on gross margin to
manage our business because our business is generally to gather, process, transport, market or treat gas for a fee or a buy-sell margin.

Our results of operations are determined primarily by the volumes of natural gas gathered, transported, purchased and sold through our pipeline systems, processed at our
processing facilities or treated at our treating plants as well as fees earned from recovering carbon dioxide and natural gas liquids at a non-operated processing plant. We
generate revenues from five primary sources:

·       gathering, transporting and reselling natural gas on the pipeline systems we own;

·       processing natural gas at our processing plants;

·       treating natural gas at our treating plants;

·       recovering carbon dioxide and natural gas liquids at a non-operated processing plant; and

·       providing producer services.

The bulk of our operating profits are derived from the margins we realize for gathering and transporting natural gas through our pipeline systems. Generally, we buy gas
from a producer, plant tailgate, or transporter at either a fixed discount to a market index or a percentage of the market index. We then transport and resell the gas. The resale
price is based on the same index price at which the gas was purchased, and, if we are to be profitable, at a smaller discount or larger premium to the index than it was
purchased. We attempt to execute all purchases and sales substantially concurrently, or we enter into a future delivery obligation, thereby establishing the basis for the margin
we will receive for each natural gas transaction. Our gathering and transportation margins related to a percentage of the index price can be adversely affected by declines in the
price of natural gas. See “Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Commodity Price Risk” below for a discussion of how we manage our
business to reduce the impact of price volatility.

We generate producer services revenues through the purchase and resale of natural gas. We focus on supply aggregation transactions in which we either purchase and
resell gas and thereby eliminate the need of the producer to engage in the marketing activities typically handled by in-house marketing or supply departments of larger
companies, or act as agent for the producer.

We generate treating revenues under three arrangements:

·       a volumetric fee based on the amount of gas treated, which accounted for approximately 55% and 63% of the operating income in our Treating division for the six
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively;
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·       a fixed fee for operating the plant for a certain period, which accounted for approximately 40% and 30% of the operating income in our Treating division for the six
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively; or

·       a fee arrangement in which the producer operates the plant, which accounted for approximately 5% and 7% of the operating income in our Treating division for the six
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Typically, we incur minimal incremental operating or administrative overhead costs when gathering and transporting additional natural gas through our pipeline assets.
Therefore, we recognize a substantial portion of incremental gathering and transportation margins as operating income.

Operating expenses are costs directly associated with the operations of a particular asset. Among the most significant of these costs are those associated with direct labor
and supervision and associated transportation and communication costs, property insurance, ad valorem taxes, repair and maintenance expenses, measurement and utilities.
These costs are normally fairly stable across broad volume ranges, and therefore, do not normally decrease or increase significantly in the short term with decreases or
increases in the volume of gas moved through the asset.

Our general and administrative expenses are dictated by the terms of our partnership agreement and our omnibus agreement with Crosstex Energy, Inc. Our general
partner and its affiliates are reimbursed for expenses incurred on our behalf. These expenses include the costs of employee, officer and director compensation and benefits
properly allocable to us, and all other expenses necessary or appropriate to the conduct of the business of, and allocable to, us. Our partnership agreement provides that our
general partner determines the expenses that are allocable to us in any reasonable manner determined by our general partner in its sole discretion. For the 12 month period
ended in December 2003, the amount which we reimbursed our general partner and its affiliates for costs incurred with respect to the general and administrative services
performed on our behalf could not exceed $6.0 million. This reimbursement cap did not apply to the cost of any third-party legal, accounting or advisory services received, or
the direct expenses of management incurred, in connection with acquisition or business development opportunities evaluated on our behalf. This cap expired in
December 2003.

We have grown significantly through asset purchases in recent years, which creates many of the major differences when comparing operating results from one period to
another. We acquired the assets from Duke Energy Field Services (DEFS) in June 2003 for $68.1 million in cash. The principal assets acquired were the Mississippi pipeline
system, a 638-mile natural gas gathering and transmission system in south central Mississippi, and a 12.4% non-operating interest in the Seminole gas processing plant, which
provides carbon dioxide separation and sulfur removal services for major oil companies in West Texas.

Our most recent asset purchase was completed in April 2004, when we acquired LIG Pipeline Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “LIG”) from a subsidiary of
American Electric Power (“AEP”) for $73.0 million in cash. The principal assets acquired consist of approximately 2,000 miles of gas gathering and transmission systems
located in 32 parishes extending from northwest and north-central Louisiana through the center of the state to the south and southeast Louisiana and five processing plants,
three of which are currently idle, that straddle the pipeline in three locations and have a total processing capability of 663,000 MMbtu/d. The system has a throughput capacity
of 900,000 MMbtu/d and average throughput at the time of our acquisition was approximately 560,000 MMbtu/d. Customers include power plants, municipal gas systems,
and industrial markets located principally in the industrial corridor between New Orleans and Baton Rouge. The LIG system is connected to several interconnected pipelines
and the Jefferson Island Storage facility providing access to additional system supply. We financed the LIG acquisition through borrowings under our bank credit facility.
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Results of Operations

Set forth in the table below is certain financial and operating data for the Midstream and Treating divisions for the periods indicated.

 Three months ended June 30,  Six months ended June 30,  

 2004  2003  2004  2003  

 (in millions, except volume amounts)  

Midstream revenues $ 507.7 $ 224.0 $ 826.0 $ 469.3
Midstream purchased gas 485.2 214.1 788.1 451.5
Midstream gross margin 22.5 9.9 37.9 17.8
Treating revenues 7.6 5.2 14.7 10.5
Treating purchased gas 1.5 2.0 2.9 4.5
Treating gross margin 6.1 3.2 11.8 6.0
Total gross margin $ 28.6 $ 13.1 $ 49.7 $ 23.8
Midstream Volumes (MMBtu/d):

Gathering and transportation 1,248,000 506,000 1,255,000 503,000
Processing 390,000 93,000 405,000 94,000
Producer services 166,000 262,000 181,000 258,000

Treating Volumes (MMBtu/d) 79,000 89,000 81,000 89,000
 

Three Months Ended June 30, 2004 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2003

Gross Margin.   Midstream gross margin was $22.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $9.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003,
an increase of $12.6 million, or 127%. The majority of this increase was due to the acquisition of the LIG assets on April 1, 2004, which added $8.1 million to midstream
gross margin. In addition, the DEFS assets, which were acquired on June 30, 2003, added $3.4 million. The Arkoma, Gulf Coast, Vanderbilt and CCNG systems had growth in
on-system transmission and gathering volumes of 20% resulting in an aggregate increase in gross margin of $0.8 million. The Denton County gathering system, which was
under construction during the comparative period in 2003, generated gross margin of $0.3 million in the second quarter of 2004.

Treating gross margin was $6.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $3.2 million in the same period in 2003, an increase of $2.9 million, or
91%. Of this increase, $2.0 million was due to the Seminole Plant, which was one of the assets acquired from DEFS. In addition, new plants placed in service since June 30,
2003 generated an additional $1.1 million in gross margin. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in gross margin of $0.2 million due to plants that were in service
during the second quarter of 2003 but were held in inventory during the second quarter of 2004, and a decrease in margin of $0.3 million at our volume-sensitive treating
plants.

Operating Expenses.   Operating expenses were $10.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $3.3 million for the three months ended June 30,
2003, an increase of $7.0 million, or 209%. An increase of $3.0 million was associated with the acquisition of the LIG assets and an increase of $1.9 million was associated
with the acquisition of assets from DEFS. Costs for our technical services and general operations support increased by approximately $0.9 million due to staff additions to
operate the LIG assets and the assets acquired from DEFS and to manage other construction projects. The growth in treating plants in service increased operating expenses by
$0.3 million.

General and Administrative Expenses.   General and administrative expenses were $4.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $1.9 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2003, an increase of $2.8 million, or 147%. The increase was due in part to the general and administrative expense limit set by our
partnership agreement for the year of 2003, which resulted in general and administrative
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expenses in excess of specified levels being borne by the general partner. Had the cap not been in place, general and administrative expenses would have been $2.6 million,
resulting in an actual increase from 2003 to 2004 of $2.1 million. The increase was primarily due to increases in staffing associated with the requirements of the LIG and
DEFS acquisitions and growth in the Partnership’s treating business and its other assets as discussed above.

Stock Based Compensation.   Stock based compensation expense decreased from $0.6 million in the second quarter of 2003 to $0.3 million in the second quarter of 2004.
During 2003, certain outstanding CEI options were accounted for using variable accounting due to a “cash-out” modification offered for such options and stock compensation
expense was recognized because the estimated fair value of the options increased during 2003. The “cash-out” modification offered during 2003 that caused the variable
accounting treatment expired on December 31, 2003 and, effective January 1, 2004, the remaining CEI options are accounted for as fixed options. Stock based compensation
recognized in 2004 represents the amortization of costs associated with awards under long-term incentive plans, including restricted units and option grants with exercise
prices below market prices on the grant date.

Depreciation and Amortization.   Depreciation and amortization expenses were $5.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $2.6 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2003, an increase of $3.3 million, or 127%. The increase related to the DEFS assets was $1.2 million and the increase related to the LIG assets
was $1.1 million. New treating plants placed in service resulted in an increase of $0.5 million. The remaining $0.5 million increase in depreciation and amortization is a result
of expansion projects and other new assets, including the expansion of the Gregory Plant.

Interest Expense.   Interest expense was $2.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $0.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003, an
increase of $1.7 million, or 370%. The increase relates primarily to an increase in debt outstanding and due to higher interest rates between three-month periods (weighted
average rate of 5.4% in 2004 compared to 5.2% in 2003).

Net Income.   Net income for the three months ended June 30, 2004 was $5.9 million compared to $5.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003, an increase of
$0.9 million. This was generally the result of the increase in gross margin of $15.0 million between comparative quarters from 2003 to 2004, offset by increases in ongoing
cash costs for operating expenses, general and administrative expenses and interest expense as discussed above. Depreciation and amortization expense also increased.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2004 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2003

Gross Margin.   Midstream gross margin was $37.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $17.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003, an
increase of $20.1 million, or 113%. The largest portion of this increase was due to the acquisition of the LIG assets on April 1, 2004, which added $8.1 million to midstream
gross margin. In addition, the DEFS assets, which were acquired on June 30, 2003, added $6.8 million. The Arkoma, Gulf Coast, Vanderbilt and CCNG systems had growth in
on-system transmission and gathering volumes of 14% resulting in an aggregate increase in gross margin of $4.7 million. The Denton County gathering system , which was
under construction during the comparative period in 2003, generated gross margin of $0.6 million in the first six months of 2004.

Treating gross margin was $11.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $6.0 million in the same period in 2003, an increase of $5.8 million, or
97%. Of this increase, $3.9 million was due to the Seminole Plant, which was one of the assets acquired from DEFS. In addition, new plants placed in service since June 30,
2003 generated an additional $1.8 million in gross margin. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in gross margin of $0.2 million due to plants that were in service
during the first half of 2003 but were held in inventory during the first half of 2004, and a decrease in margin of $0.5 million at our volume-sensitive treating plants.
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Operating Expenses.   Operating expenses were $16.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $6.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003,
an increase of $10.0 million, or 153%. An increase of $3.4 million was associated with the acquisition of assets from DEFS and an increase of $3.0 million was associated
with the acquisition of the LIG assets. Costs for our technical services and general operations support increased by approximately $1.5 million due to staff additions to operate
the LIG assets acquired in April 2004 and the assets acquired in June 2003 from DEFS and to manage other construction projects. The growth in treating plants in service
increased operating expenses by $0.5 million.

General and Administrative Expenses.   General and administrative expenses were $8.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $3.4 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2003, an increase of $4.9 million, or 146%. The increase was due in part to the general and administrative expense limit set by our partnership
agreement for the year of 2003, which resulted in general and administrative expenses in excess of specified levels being borne by the general partner. Had the cap not been in
place, general and administrative expenses would have been $4.6 million, resulting in an actual increase from 2003 to 2004 of $3.7 million. The increase was primarily due to
increases in staffing associated with the requirements of the LIG and DEFS acquisitions and growth in the Partnership’s treating business and its other assets as discussed
above.

Stock Based Compensation.   Stock based compensation expense decreased from $3.0 million in the second half of 2003 to $0.5 million in the second half of 2004.
During 2003, certain outstanding CEI options were accounted for using variable accounting due to a “cash-out” modification offered for such options and stock compensation
expense was recognized because the estimated fair value of the options increased during 2003. The “cash-out” modification offered during 2003 that caused the variable
accounting treatment expired on December 31, 2003 and, effective January 1, 2004, the remaining CEI options are accounted for as fixed options. Stock based compensation
recognized in 2004 represents the amortization of costs associated with awards under long-term incentive plans, including restricted units and option grants with exercise
prices below market prices on the grant date.

(Profit) Loss on Energy Trading Activities.   The profit on energy trading activities was $1.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $0.8 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2003, an increase of $0.4 million. Included in these amounts are realized margins on delivered volumes in the producer services “off-system”
gas marketing operations of $1.2 million in the first half of 2004 and 2003.

Loss on Sale of Property.   In the first six months of 2004, we sold two small gathering systems and recognized a net loss on sale of $274,000.

Depreciation and Amortization.   Depreciation and amortization expenses were $10.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $5.0 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2003, an increase of $5.3 million, or 105%. The increase related to the DEFS assets was $2.4 million and the increase related to the LIG assets and
was $1.1 million. New treating plants placed in service resulted in an increase of $0.8 million. The remaining $0.7 million increase in depreciation and amortization is a result
of expansion projects and other new assets, including the expansion of the Gregory Plant.

Interest Expense.   Interest expense was $3.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $0.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003, an
increase of $2.4 million, or 282%. The increase relates primarily to an increase in debt outstanding and due to higher interest rates between six-month periods (weighted
average rate of 5.5% in 2004 compared to 4.9% in 2003).

Net Income.   Net income for the six months ended June 30, 2004 was $11.6 million compared to $5.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003, an increase of
$5.8 million. This was generally the result of the increase in gross margin of $25.5 million, offset by increases in ongoing cash costs for operating expenses, general and
administrative expenses and interest expense as discussed above. Depreciation and amortization expenses also increased.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Information regarding the Partnership’s Critical Accounting Policies is included in Item 7 of the Partnership’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows.   Net cash provided by operating activities was $24.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to cash provided by operations of
$32.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. Income before non-cash income and expenses was $22.6 million in 2004 and $13.8 million in 2003. Changes in
working capital provided $2.3 million in cash flows from operating activities in 2004 and $19.1 million in cash flows from operating activities in 2003. Income before non-
cash income and expenses increased between periods primarily due to asset acquisitions as discussed in “Results of Operations—Six Months Ended June 30, 2004 Compared
to Six Months Ended June 30, 2003.”

Net cash used in investing activities was $88.3 million and $86.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Net cash used in investing
activities during 2004 related to the LIG acquisition, refurbishment and installation of treating plants, the connection of new wells to various systems, pipeline integrity
projects, pipeline relocations and various other internal growth projects. During 2003, net cash used in investing activities primarily related to the DEFS acquisition and other
costs related to internal growth projects including the Gregory plant expansion and buying, refurbishing and installing treating plants.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $63.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 compared to $53.5 million provided by financing activities for the six
months ended June 30, 2003. Net borrowings of $64.0 million in the first half of 2004 were used to fund the LIG acquisition and the internal growth projects discussed above.
Distributions to partners totaled $15.8 million in the first half of 2004, compared to distributions in the first half of 2003 of $4.3 million. Drafts payable increased by $16.5
million providing cash for financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2004 as compared to a decrease in drafts payable of $17.8 million using cash from financing
activities for the six months ended June 30, 2003. In order to reduce our interest costs, we do not borrow money to fund outstanding checks until they are presented to the
bank. Fluctuations in drafts payable are caused by timing of disbursements, cash receipts and draws on our revolving credit facility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.   We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2004.

Indebtedness

As of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

  

June 30,
2004  

December 31,
2003  

Acquisition credit facility, interest based on Prime and/or LIBOR plus an
applicable margin, interest rates (per the facility) at June 30, 2004 and
December 31, 2003 were 4.25% and 2.92%, respectively $ 9,000 $20,000

Senior secured notes, weighted average interest rate of 6.95% and 6.93% at
June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively 115,000 40,000

Note payable to Florida Gas Transmission Company 700 750
124,700 60,750

Less current portion 50 50
Debt classified as long-term $ 124,650 $60,700
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In conjunction with the April 2004 acquisition of the LIG Pipeline Company and its subsidiaries discussed in Note (3) of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the
Partnership amended its bank credit facility to increase the borrowing base under its senior secured revolving acquisition facility from $70 million to $100 million and to
increase the borrowing base under its senior secured revolving credit working capital and letter of credit facility from $50 million to $100 million. Additionally, the current
ratio covenant was eliminated under this amendment. In June 2004, the bank credit facility was further amended allowing for an increase in senior secured notes to $125
million and eliminating the minimum tangible net worth covenant.

In June 2004, the Partnership completed a private placement offering of $75 million in senior secured notes with Prudential Capital Group. The notes mature in 10 years,
with an average life of eight years, have an annual coupon of 6.96% and are callable after three years at 103.5% of par. The notes were used to repay borrowings under the
Partnership’s revolving credit facility.

As part of the $75 million private placement, the Master Shelf Agreement governing the notes was amended, the following being the significant amendments:

·       increased the aggregate amount of notes that may be issued under the agreement to $125 million;

·       extended the issuance period from June 2006 to June 2007;

·       established a release of collateral provision should the Partnership obtain a senior unsecured debt rating of investment grade by certain rating agencies; and

·       provided a call premium on the $75 million placement beginning June 2007 through June 2013 at rates declining from 3.50% to 0%. The notes are not callable prior to
June 2007.

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report on Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 31E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Statements included in this report which are not historical facts (including any statements concerning plans and objectives of
management for future operations or economic performance, or assumptions or forecasts related thereto), including, without limitation, the information set forth in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” are forward-looking statements. These statements can be identified by the use of
forward-looking terminology including “forecast,” “may,” “believe,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “continue” or other similar words. These statements discuss
future expectations, contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition or state other “forward-looking” information. In addition to specific uncertainties
discussed elsewhere in this Form 10-Q, the following risks and uncertainties may affect our performance and results of operations:

·       we may not have sufficient cash after the establishment of cash reserves and payment of our general partner’s fees and expenses to pay the minimum quarterly
distribution each quarter;

·       if we are unable to contract for new natural gas supplies, we will be unable to maintain or increase the throughput levels in our natural gas gathering systems and asset
utilization rates at our treating and processing plants to offset the natural decline in reserves;

·       our profitability is dependent upon the prices and market demand for natural gas and NGLs, which are beyond our control and have been volatile;

·       our future success will depend in part on our ability to make acquisitions of assets and businesses at attractive prices and to integrate and operate the acquired business
profitably;
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·       Crosstex Energy, Inc. owns approximately 55% aggregate limited partner interest of us and it owns and controls our general partner, thereby effectively controlling all
limited partnership decisions; conflicts of interest may arise in the future between Crosstex Energy, Inc. and its affiliates, including our general partner, and our
partnership or any of our unitholders;

·       since we are not the operator of certain of our assets, the success of the activities conducted at such assets are outside our control;

·       we operate in very competitive markets and encounter significant competition for natural gas supplies and markets;

·       we are subject to risk of loss resulting from nonpayment or nonperformance by our customers or counterparties;

·       we may not be able to retain existing customers, especially key customers, or acquire new customers at rates sufficient to maintain our current revenues and cash flows;

·       the construction of gathering, processing and treating facilities requires the expenditure of significant amounts of capital and subjects us to construction risks and risks
that natural gas supplies will not be available upon completion of the facilities;

·       our business involves many hazards and operational risks, some of which may not be fully covered by insurance. Our operations are subject to many hazards inherent in
the gathering, compressing, treating and processing of natural gas and storage of residue gas, including damage to pipelines, related equipment and surrounding
properties caused by hurricanes, floods, fires and other natural disasters and acts of terrorism; inadvertent damage from construction and farm equipment; leaks from
natural gas, NGLs and other hydrocarbons; and fires and explosions. These risks could result in substantial losses due to personal injury and/or loss of life, severe
damage to and destruction of property and equipment and pollution or other environmental damage and may result in curtailment or suspension of our related operations.
We are not fully insured against all risks incident to our business. If a significant accident or event occurs that is not fully insured, it could adversely affect our
operations and financial condition;

·       we are subject to extensive and changing federal, state and local laws and regulations designed to protect the environment, and these laws and regulations could impose
liability for remediation costs and civil or criminal penalties for non-compliance; and

·       our common units may not have significant trading volume or liquidity, and the price of our common units may be volatile and may decline if interest rates increase.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may differ materially from those in the
forward-looking statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or review any forward-looking statements or information, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

Item 3.   Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. We face market risk from commodity price variations, primarily due to
fluctuations in the price of a portion of the natural gas we sell; and for the portion of the natural gas we process and for which we have taken the processing risk, we are at risk
for the difference in the value of the natural gas liquid (“NGL”) products we produce versus the value of the gas used in fuel and shrinkage in their production. In addition, a
portion of our loss at certain processing operations is denominated in natural gas liquids. We also incur credit risks and risks related to interest rate variations.
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Commodity Price Risk.   Approximately 8.3% of the natural gas we market is purchased at a percentage of the relevant natural gas index price, as opposed to a fixed
discount to that price. As a result of purchasing the gas at a percentage of the index price, our resell margins are higher during periods of higher natural gas prices and lower
during periods of lower natural gas prices. We also receive a portion of our fees at certain of our processing operations in the form of a percentage of the liquids produced.
Therefore, our margins are also exposed to volatility in the changing price of liquids. In addition, of the gas we process at our Gregory Processing Plant, we were exposed to
the processing risk on 3.7% of the gas we purchased during the six months ended June 30, 2004. Our processing margins on this portion of the gas will be higher during
periods when the price of gas is low relative to the value of the liquids produced and our margins will be lower during periods when the value of gas is high relative to the
value of liquids. For the six months ended June 30, 2004, a $0.01 per gallon change in NGL prices offset by a change of $0.10 per MMBtu in the price of natural gas would
have reduced our processing margin by $58,000. Changes in natural gas prices indirectly may impact our profitability since prices can influence drilling activity and well
operations and thus the volume of gas we can gather, transport, process and treat.

Our primary commodity risk management objective is to reduce volatility in our cash flows. We maintain a Risk Management Committee, including members of senior
management, which oversees all hedging activity. We enter into hedges for natural gas and natural gas liquids using NYMEX futures or over-the-counter derivative financial
instruments with only certain well-capitalized counterparties which have been approved by our Risk Management Committee. Hedges to protect our processing margins are
generally for a more limited time frame than is possible for hedges in natural gas, as the financial markets for NGLs are not as developed as the markets for natural gas. Such
hedges generally involve taking a short position with regard to the relevant liquids and an offsetting long position in the required volume of natural gas.

The use of financial instruments may expose us to the risk of financial loss in certain circumstances, including instances when (1) sales volumes are less than expected
requiring market purchases to meet commitments, or (2) our counterparties fail to purchase the contracted quantities of natural gas or otherwise fail to perform. To the extent
that we engage in hedging activities we may be prevented from realizing the benefits of favorable price changes in the physical market. However, we are similarly insulated
against unfavorable changes in such prices.

We manage our price risk related to future physical purchase or sale commitments for our producer services activities by entering into either corresponding physical
delivery contracts or financial instruments with an objective to balance our future commitments and significantly reduce our risk to the movement in natural gas prices.
However, we are subject to counterparty risk for both the physical and financial contracts. We account for certain of our producer services natural gas marketing activities as
energy trading contracts or derivatives. These energy-trading contracts are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value reported in earnings. Accordingly, any gain or loss
associated with changes in the fair value of derivatives and physical delivery contracts relating to our producer services natural gas marketing activities are recognized in
earnings as profit or loss on energy trading contracts immediately.

For each reporting period, we record the fair value of open energy trading contracts based on the difference between the quoted market price and the contract price.
Accordingly, the change in fair value from the previous period is reported as profit or loss on energy trading contracts in the statement of operations. In addition, realized gains
and losses from settled contracts are also recorded in profit or loss on energy trading contracts.

Set forth below is the summarized notional amount and terms of all instruments held for price risk management purposes at June 30, 2004 (all quantities are expressed in
British Thermal Units). The remaining term of the contracts extend no later than December 2005, with no single contract longer than six months. Our counterparties to hedging
contracts include Sempra Energy Trading Corp., Morgan
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Stanley Capital Group, BP Corporation, Duke Energy Trading and Marketing and AEP Energy Services. Changes in the fair value of our derivatives related to Producer
Services gas marketing activities are recorded in earnings. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges is recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income until the related anticipated future cash flow is recognized in earnings.

June 30, 2004

Transaction type    

Total
volume  Pricing terms

Remaining term
of contracts  Fair value 

(in thousands)
Cash Flow Hedge:

Natural gas swaps cash flow
hedge 5,590,000

Fixed prices ranging from
$4.795 to $6.525 settling July 2004—December 2005 $ 6,280

Natural gas swaps cash flow
hedge (2,817,000)

against various Inside FERC
Index prices July 2004—December 2005 (1,481)

Total natural gas swaps cash flow hedge $ 4,799

Swing swaps cash flow hedge 3,100,000
Fixed prices ranging from
$5.965 to $6.275 settling July 2004—August 2004 $ (82)

Swing swaps cash flow
hedge (1,362,264)

against various Inside FERC
Index prices July 2004—August 2004 (121)

Total swing swap cash flow hedge $ (203)

NGL swaps cash
flow hedge (3,683,000)

Fixed prices ranging from
$.3775 to $.7450 settling
against Mt. Belvieu Average
of daily postings (non-TET) July 2004—December 2004 $ (350)

Total NGL swaps cash flow hedge $ (350)
Producer Services:

 

Marketing trading financial
swaps 480,000

Fixed prices ranging from
$4.64 to $5.945 settling July 2004—March 2005 $ 641

Marketing trading financial
swaps (450,000)

against various Inside FERC
Index prices July 2004—March 2005 (307)

Total marketing trading financial swaps $ 334
Physical offset to marketing

trading transactions 450,000
Fixed prices ranging from
$4.64 to $5.855 settling July 2004—March 2005 $ 333

Physical offset to marketing
trading transactions (480,000)

against various Inside
FERC Index prices July 2004—March 2005 (636)

Total physical offset to marketing trading transactions swaps $ (303)
 

On all transactions where we are exposed to counterparty risk, we analyze the counterparty’s financial condition prior to entering into an agreement, establish limits, and
monitor the appropriateness of these limits on an ongoing basis.

Interest Rate Risk.    We are exposed to changes in interest rates, primarily as a result of our long-term debt with floating interest rates. At June 30, 2004, we had $9.0
million of indebtedness outstanding under floating rate debt. We have interest rate swap agreements to adjust the ratio of fixed and floating rates in the debt portfolio, wherein
we have swapped floating rates for fixed rates of 2.29% and the applicable margin through November 1, 2004. The impact of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates on our
debt outstanding on June 30, 2004 would result in an increase in interest expense and a decrease in income before taxes of approximately $90,000 per year. This amount has
been determined by considering the impact of such hypothetical interest rate increase on our non-hedged, floating rate debt outstanding at June 30, 2004.

29

Item 4.   Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of
Crosstex Energy GP, LLC, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2004 to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

As we have previously disclosed, in July 2004 we determined during the course of internal reviews that, due to clerical errors, certain reconciling items between the detail
accounts receivable and accounts payable subledgers and the general ledger relating to 2002 had not been properly cleared. These errors resulted from a deficiency in the
procedures to reconcile these subledgers to the general ledger. During the second quarter of 2004, we implemented new procedures for reconciling subledgers to the general
ledger and the disposition and resolution of reconciling items on a timely basis. Management believes that these measures will ensure that similar errors do not occur again.
Except for the changes discussed above, there have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended June 30,
2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonable likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6.   Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(a)           Exhibits

The exhibits filed as part of this report are as follows (exhibits incorporated by reference are set forth with the name of the registrant, the type of report and registration
number or last date of the period for which it was filed, and the exhibit number in such filing):

Number   Description
3.1—Certificate of Limited Partnership of Crosstex Energy, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

our Registration Statement on Form S-1, file No. 333-97779).
3.2—Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crosstex Energy, L.P., dated as of

March 29, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2004).

3.3—Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crosstex
Energy, L.P., dated as of April 1, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004).



3.4—Certificate of Limited Partnership of Crosstex Energy Services, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, file No. 333-97779).

3.5—Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crosstex Energy Services, L.P.,
dated as of April 1, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004).

3.6—Certificate of Limited Partnership of Crosstex Energy GP, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5
to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, file No. 333-97779).

3.7—Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crosstex Energy GP, L.P., dated as of July 12, 2002 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, file No. 333-97779).

3.8—Certificate of Formation of Crosstex Energy GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.7 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, file No. 333-97779).

3.9—Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Crosstex Energy GP, LLC, dated as of
December 17, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.8 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-106927).

4.1—Specimen Unit Certificate for Common Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, file No. 333-97779).

10.1*—Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2004, by
and among Crosstex Energy Services, L.P., Union Bank of California, N.A. and certain other parties.

10.2*—Letter Amendment No. 2 to Master Shelf Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2004, among Crosstex Energy
Services, L.P., Prudential Investment Management, Inc., The Prudential Insurance Company of America
and Pruco Life Insurance Company.

21.1 —List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004).

31.1*—Certification of the principal executive officer.
31.2*—Certification of the principal financial officer.
32.1*—Certification of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer of the Company pursuant to

18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

*                     Filed herewith.
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(b)          Reports on Form 8-K

On April 14, 2004, Crosstex Energy, L.P. filed a Current Report on Form 8-K, (as amended May 21, 2004 and June 11, 2004 to include financial statements of LIG
Pipeline Company and subsidiaries) Items 2, 7 and 9, (dated as of April 1, 2004) announcing the acquisition of the LIG Pipeline Company and its subsidiaries from American
Electric Power.

On May 5, 2004, Crosstex Energy, L.P. filed a Current Report on Form 8-K, Items 7 and 12 (dated as of May 4, 2004), which included its press release as Exhibit 99.1
announcing its financial results for the three months ended March 31, 2004.

On June 21, 2004, Crosstex Energy, L.P. filed a current report on Form 8-K, Items 7 and 9, (dated as of June 18, 2004) which included its press release as Exhibit 99.1
announcing its completion of a private placement offering of $75 million in senior secured notes.

On June 22, 2004, Crosstex Energy, L.P. filed a current report on Form 8-K, Item 5 (dated as of June 14, 2004) announcing the appointment of Mr. Rhys J. Best to its
Board of Directors.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 11th day of August 2004.

Crosstex Energy, L.P.

By: Crosstex Energy GP, L.P.,
its general partner

By: Crosstex Energy GP, LLC,
its general partner

By:  /s/ William W. Davis
 William W. Davis,
 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
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Exhibit 10.1
 

FOURTH AMENDMENT
 

THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of the 18th day of
June, 2004 by and among each of the persons listed on the signature pages hereof as banks (the “Banks”), Crosstex Energy Services, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the
“Borrower”), and Union Bank of California, N.A., as administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”).
 

BACKGROUND
 

A.            The Banks, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower are parties to that certain Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November
26, 2002, as amended by the First Amendment dated as of June 3, 2003, the Second Amendment dated as of October 30, 2003 and the Third Amendment dated as of April 1,
2004 (said Agreement, as so amended, herein called the “Credit Agreement”).  Terms defined in the Credit Agreement and not otherwise defined herein have the same
respective meanings when used herein.

 
B.            The Borrower intends to amend the Note Agreement in order to issue up to an additional $75,000,000 in principal amount of its Senior Secured Notes in one

or more additional series.
 
C.            The Borrower has requested, and the Majority Banks have agreed, to (1) consent to the issuance of Debt under the Note Agreement in an aggregate principal

amount not to exceed $125,000,000, and (2) make certain other amendments to the Credit Agreement.
 

AGREEMENT
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants, conditions and agreements hereafter set forth, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
adequacy of which are all hereby acknowledged, the Borrower and the Majority Banks (which are all of the Banks required under the Credit Agreement to make the
amendments and give the consents contemplated hereunder) hereto covenant and agree as follows:

 
Section 1.               Amendments.
 

(a)           Section 6.02 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

(i)            Section 6.02(j) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety as follows:
 
(j)            Debt under the Note Agreement in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $125,000,000;
 
(ii)           Section 6.02(k) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety as follows:

 

 
(k)           unsecured Debt of the Borrower, a Finance Entity and/or any Guarantor, and/or any unsecured guaranty by the Borrower or any Guarantor

of Debt of the MLP or any other Affiliate of the Borrower; provided that (i) the Borrower is in compliance with Section 6.14 immediately after giving effect
to the incurrence of any such Debt (and in the case of any guaranty of Debt of the MLP or any other Affiliate of the Borrower, the aggregate amount of such
Debt so guaranteed shall be “Funded Debt” of the Borrower for purposes of calculating the Leverage Ratio), (ii) such Debt does not impose any financial or
other “maintenance” covenants on the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries that are more onerous than the covenants set forth in this Agreement, (iii) such
Debt shall not require any scheduled payment on account of principal (whether by redemption, purchase, retirement, defeasance, set-off or otherwise) prior to
the Revolver A Termination Date or the Revolver B Termination Date and (iv) such Debt shall contain terms and conditions that are customary for such
transactions;

 
(b)           Section 6.15 of the Credit Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and the following is substituted in lieu thereof:
 

Section 6.15.          [Intentionally omitted].
 

(c)           A new Section 6.19 of the Credit Agreement is hereby added as follows:
 

Section 6.19.          Other Debt.  The Borrower may not make any optional or scheduled payments or prepayments on account of principal (whether
by redemption, purchase, retirement, defeasance, set-off or otherwise) in respect of any unsecured Debt incurred pursuant to Section 6.02(k) prior to the
Revolver A Termination Date and the Revolver B Termination Date, other than principal payments not exceeding $3,000,000 in the aggregate over the term
of this Agreement.  The Borrower shall not amend, supplement or otherwise modify the terms of any Debt incurred under Section 6.02(k) if such amendment,
supplement or other modification would not be permitted by the terms of Section 6.02(k) without the prior written consent of the Majority Banks, which
consent will not be unreasonably withheld.

 
Section 2.               Consent and Waiver.  The Majority Banks hereby consent to the Letter Amendment No. 2 to the Note Agreement to permit the issuance of up to an
additional $75,000,000 in principal amount of Senior Secured Notes in one or more additional series.  This consent is limited to the extent described herein and shall not be
construed to be a consent to or a waiver of any other actions prohibited by the Credit Agreement or any other Credit Document.
 
Section 3.               Conditions Precedent.  This Amendment shall become effective as of the date first set forth above when:

 
2

 
(a)           the Borrower shall have paid to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Bank a non-refundable amendment fee of $150,000.00 and all costs

and expenses which have been invoiced as of June 15, 2004 and are payable pursuant to Section 9.04 of the Credit Agreement;
 
(b)           the Administrative Agent shall have received all of the following, each dated the date hereof, in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative

Agent and in the number of originals requested by the Administrative Agent:
 

(i)            this Amendment, duly executed by the Borrower, the Majority Banks and the Administrative Agent;
 
(ii)           one or more consents to this Amendment, duly executed by each Guarantor that has previously executed a Guaranty;
 
(iii)          a certificate from a Responsible Officer stating that (A) all representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the Credit

Agreement, each of the other Credit Documents to which it is a party and this Amendment as of such date are true and correct in all material respects, except to the
extent any such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall have been true and correct in



all material respects on such earlier date; (B) no Default has occurred and is continuing; and (C) the conditions in this Section 3 have been met;  and
 
(iv)          an executed copy of the Letter Amendment No. 2 to Note Agreement, certified by a Responsible Officer as being a true and correct copy of

such document, in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent.
 

Section 4.               Representations and Warranties.  The Borrower represents and warrants to the Banks and the Administrative Agent as set forth below:
 

(a)           The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Amendment are within the Borrower’s legal powers, have been duly authorized by
all necessary partnership action and do not (i) contravene the Borrower Partnership Agreement, (ii) contravene any Governmental Rule or contractual restriction
binding on or affecting the Borrower or (iii) result in or require the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than any created by the Credit Documents) upon or with
respect to any of the properties of the Borrower.

 
(b)           No Governmental Action is required for the due execution, delivery or performance by the Borrower of this Amendment.
 
(c)           This Amendment constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms,

except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally or
by general principles of equity.
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(d)           The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment do not adversely affect any Lien of the Security Documents.
 
(e)           The quarterly and annual financial statements most recently delivered to the Banks pursuant to Sections 5.01(c) and (d) of the Credit Agreement

fairly present the Consolidated financial condition of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the Consolidated results of the operations
of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the respective fiscal periods ended on such dates, all in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis (subject to normal
year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes in the case of the quarterly financial statements).  Since December 31, 2003 there has been no material and
adverse change in the business, condition (financial or otherwise), operations, performance, properties or prospects of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.  The
Borrower and its Subsidiaries have no material contingent liabilities except as disclosed in such financial statements or the notes thereto.

 
(f)            There is no pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened action or proceeding affecting the Borrower or any Subsidiary before any

Governmental Person, referee or arbitrator that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
 
(g)           No event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from the effectiveness of this Amendment, that constitutes a Default.
 
(h)           No event or events has occurred which, individually or in the aggregate have had or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
 

Section 5.               Reference to and Effect on the Credit Agreement.
 

(a)           On and after the effective date of this Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein” or
words of like import shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Credit Documents to “the Credit Agreement,”
“thereunder,” “thereof,” “therein” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement as amended by this
Amendment.

 
(b)           Except as specifically amended above, the Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby

ratified and confirmed.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Security Documents and all of the Collateral described therein do and shall continue to
secure the payment of all obligations stated to be secured thereby under the Credit Documents.

 
(c)           Except as expressly set forth herein, the execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or

remedy of the Administrative Agent or any Bank under any of the Credit Documents or constitute a waiver of any provision of any of the Credit Documents.
 

Section 6.               Execution in Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each which
when so executed and
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delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a
signature page to this Amendment by telecopier shall be effective as delivery of an originally executed counterpart of this Amendment.
 
Section 7.               Governing Law; Binding Effect.  This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Texas,
and shall be binding upon the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, each Bank and their respective successors and assigns.
 
Section 8.               Costs and Expenses.  The Borrower agrees to pay on demand all costs and expenses of the Administrative Agent in connection with the preparation,
execution and delivery of this Amendment and the other instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder, including the reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses of
counsel for the Administrative Agent with respect thereto and with respect to advising the Administrative Agent as to its rights and responsibilities hereunder and thereunder.
 

[Remainder of this page blank; signature page follows]
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Executed as of the 18th day of June, 2004.
  
  

CROSSTEX ENERGY SERVICES, L.P.
   

By: CROSSTEX OPERATING GP, LLC,
General Partner

   
   

By: /s/ William W. Davis



William W. Davis
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

 

 
UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA, N.A.,

as Lead Arranger, Administrative Agent and Bank
  
  

By: /s/ John Clark
 John
Clark
 Vice
President

  
  

By: /s/ Ali Ahmed
Name: Ali Ahmed
Title: Vice President

 

 
THE ROYAL BANK OF CANADA,

as Co-Arranger, Syndication Agent and Bank
  
  

By: /s/ Lorne Carter
Name: Lorne Carter
Title: Authorized Signatory

 

 
FLEET NATIONAL BANK,

as Documentation Agent and Bank
  
  

By: /s/ Allison I. Rossi
Name: Allison I. Rossi
Title: Director

 

 
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as Bank
  
  

By: /s/ Matthew J. Purchase
Name: Matthew J. Purchase
Title: Vice President

 

 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

as Bank
  
  

By: /s/ Steven A. Mackenzie
Name: Steven A. Mackenzie
Title: Senior Vice President

 

 
BNP PARIBAS,

as Bank
  
  

By: /s/ Larry Robinson
Name: Larry Robinson
Title: Director

  
  

By: /s/ Mark Cox
Name: Mark Cox
Title: Director

 



 
GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORPORATION,

as Bank
  
  

By:
Name:
Title:

 

 
GUARANTY BANK,

as Bank
  
  

By: /s/ Jim R. Hamilton
Name: Jim R. Hamilton
Title: Senior Vice President

 



Exhibit 10.2
 

EXECUTION VERSION
 

LETTER AMENDMENT NO. 2
 

to
 

MASTER SHELF AGREEMENT
 

As of June 18, 2004
 
Prudential Investment Management, Inc.
The Prudential Insurance Company of America
Pruco Life Insurance Company
Each of other purchasers of Series C Notes

listed on the Purchaser Schedule
attached hereto (the “Series C Purchasers”)

c/o Prudential Capital Group
Gateway Center Four
100 Mulberry Street
Newark, New Jersey 08102-4069
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

We refer to the Master Shelf Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2003, among Crosstex Energy Services, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Company”),
Prudential Investment Management, Inc. (“Prudential”), The Prudential Insurance Company of America (“PICA”) and Pruco Life Insurance Company (“Pruco” and,
together with Prudential, PICA and each of the Series C Purchasers, the “Purchasers”), as amended by Letter Amendment No. 1 dated as of April 1, 2004 (as so amended, the
“Agreement”).  Unless otherwise defined in this Letter Amendment No. 2 to Master Shelf Agreement (this “Amendment”), the terms defined in the Agreement shall be used
herein as therein defined.
 

The Company desires that Prudential amend the Agreement to increase the aggregate amount of Notes that may be issued under the Agreement to $125,000,000,
extend the Issuance Period to June 18, 2007 and provide for the authorization of the issuance of a series of senior secured notes thereunder as hereinafter provided.  In
addition to the foregoing, the Company has requested that the Purchasers make certain other amendments to the Agreement.
 

Subject to the terms and conditions specified herein, the Purchasers have indicated their willingness to make such amendments, all as more particularly set forth
herein.  Accordingly, subject to satisfaction of the conditions set forth in paragraph 12 hereof, and in reliance on the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in
paragraph 11 hereof, the Purchasers hereby agree with the Company to amend the Agreement as provided in paragraphs 1 through 10 below, effective in each case as of the
Amendment No. 2 Effective Date (as defined in paragraph 12 below).
 

 
1.                                      Amendment to Cover Page.

 
Cover Page.  The cover page of the Agreement is hereby amended by replacing “$50,000,000” therein with “$125,000,000”.

 
2.                                      Amendment to Paragraph 1. Authorization of Issue of Notes.

 
Paragraph 1. Authorization of Issue of Notes.  Paragraph 1 of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the first sentence thereof in its entirety and replacing

it with the following:
 

“The Company will authorize the issue of its senior secured promissory notes (the “Notes”) in the aggregate principal amount of $125,000,000; to be dated the date of
issue thereof; to mature, in the case of each Note so issued, no more than 10 years after the date of original issuance thereof; to have an average life, in the case of each
note so issued, of no more than 8 years after the date of original issuance thereof; to bear interest on the unpaid balance thereof from the date thereof at the rate per
annum, and to have such other particular terms, as shall be set forth (a) in the case of each Series A Note and Series C Note, paragraphs 2H(1)(a) and 2H(1)(b) hereto,
respectively, and (b) in the case of each Note of any other Series of Notes so issued, in the Confirmation of Acceptance with respect to such Note delivered pursuant to
paragraph 2F; and to be substantially in the form of Exhibit A-1, Exhibit A-2 or Exhibit A-3, as applicable, attached hereto.”

 
3.                                      Amendments to Paragraph 2.  Purchase and Sale of Notes.

 
(a)                                  Paragraph 2B. Issuance Period.  Paragraph 2B of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause (i) thereof in its entirety and replacing it with “(i)

June 18, 2007 and”.
 

(b)                                 Paragraph 2H.  Closing.  Paragraph 2H(1) of the Agreement is hereby renumbered as paragraph 2H(1)(a), and new paragraph 2H(1)(b) is added to the
Agreement, such paragraph 2H(1)(b) to read as follows:
 

“2H(1)(b).  Series C Closing.  The Company hereby agrees to sell to each Purchaser identified on the Purchaser Schedule attached hereto as a Purchaser of
the Series C Notes and, subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth, each such Purchaser agrees to purchase from the Company under the Facility the
6.96% Senior Secured Notes, Series C, due June 18, 2014 (the “Series C Notes”) in the aggregate principal amount set forth opposite its name on the
Purchaser Schedule attached hereto at 100% of such aggregate principal amount.  The Series C Notes shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A-3
attached hereto.  The Company will deliver to Prudential, at the offices of Schiff Hardin LLP, 6600 Sears Tower, Chicago, Illinois  60606, one or more Series
C Notes registered in the name of such Purchasers, evidencing the aggregate principal amount of Series C Notes to be purchased by such Purchasers and
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in the denomination or denominations specified in the Purchaser Schedule attached hereto against payment of the purchase price thereof by transfer of
immediately available funds to the credit of the Company’s account #0880423630 at Union Bank of California, Los Angeles, California (ABA No.
122000496) on the date of closing, which shall be June 18, 2004, or any other date upon which the Company and Prudential may mutually agree in writing
(the “Series C Closing”).”

 
(c)                                  Paragraph 2H(2).  Subsequent Closings.  Paragraph 2H(2) of the Agreement is hereby amended by replacing “Baker Botts L.L.P., 2001 Ross Avenue,

Dallas, Texas  75201” with “Schiff Hardin LLP, 6600 Sears Tower, Chicago, Illinois  60606”.



 
(d)                                 Paragraph 2I(2).  Issuance Fee.  Paragraph 2I(2) of the Agreement is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

 
“2I(2).  Issuance Fee.  The Company will pay to each Purchaser in immediately available funds a fee (the “Issuance Fee”) on (i) the Series C Closing in an
amount equal to 0.15% of the aggregate principal amount of the Series C Notes sold to such Purchaser on the Series C Closing, and (ii) each Closing Day on
or after June 18, 2004 in an amount equal to 0.25% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes sold to such Purchaser on such Closing Day.

 
(e)                                  Paragraph 2I(5). Renewal Fee.  Paragraph 2I(5) of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety.

 
4.                                      Amendment to Paragraph 3B.  Opinion of Purchaser’s Special Counsel.  Paragraph 3B of the Note Agreement is amended by replacing “Baker Botts

L.L.P.” with “Schiff Hardin LLP”.
 

5.                                      Amendments to Paragraph 6.  Negative Covenants.
 

(a)                                  Paragraph 6A(4).  Minimum Tangible Net Worth.  Paragraph 6A(4) of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety.
 

(b)                                 Paragraph 6C(2).  Debt.
 

(1)                                  Clause (xi) of paragraph 6C(2) of the Agreement is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
 

“(xi)                           unsecured Funded Debt of the Company, a Finance Entity and/or any Guarantor, and/or any unsecured guaranty by the Company or any Guarantor
of Funded Debt of the MLP or any other Affiliate of the Company; provided that (a) the Company is in compliance with paragraph 6A(3) immediately after
giving effect to the incurrence of any such Funded Debt or guaranty determined based upon the outstanding amount of Funded Debt of
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the Company and its Subsidiaries on a Consolidated basis, immediately after giving effect to such incurrence, EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters most
recently ended on or before the date of such incurrence and the maximum Leverage Ratio allowed as of the end of the fiscal quarter most recently ended on or
prior to the date of such incurrence (and in the case of any guaranty of Funded Debt of the MLP or any other Affiliate of the Company, the aggregate amount
of such Funded Debt so guaranteed shall be “Funded Debt” of the Company for purposes of calculating the Leverage Ratio), (b) such Debt does not impose
any financial or other “maintenance” covenants on the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that are more onerous than the covenants set forth in this
Agreement, (c) such Debt shall not require any scheduled payment on account of principal (whether by redemption, purchase, retirement, defeasance, set-off
or otherwise) prior to the latest maturity date of any Note and (d) such Debt shall contain terms and conditions that are customary for such transactions.”

 
(2)                                  The following new paragraph is added to the end of paragraph 6C(2) of the Agreement:

 
“Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time any provision of Section 6.02 of the Bank Agreement (other than clause (j) thereof) is modified, then the
Company and the holders of the Notes agree to execute an amendment to this Agreement, in form reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holder(s), under
which this paragraph 6C(2) is modified in the same manner in which Section 6.02 of the Bank Agreement has been modified; provided, however that no
holder of a Note shall be required to execute any such amendment to this Agreement unless the holders of the Notes have received compensation equivalent
(on a proportionate basis based upon the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes and the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Debt
outstanding under the Bank Agreement) to any fees or other compensation paid to any Bank or its agent with respect to such modification to the Section 6.02
of the Bank Agreement.”

 
(c)                                  Paragraph 6K.  New paragraph 6K is added to the Agreement, such paragraph to read as follows:

 
“6K.                       Other Debt.  The Company will not make any optional or scheduled payments or prepayments on account of principal (whether by redemption,
purchase, retirement, defeasance, set-off or otherwise) in respect of any unsecured Debt incurred pursuant to paragraph 6C(2)(xi) prior to the latest maturity
date of any Note, other than principal payments not exceeding $3,000,000 in the aggregate prior to such latest maturity date.  The Company shall
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not amend, supplement or otherwise modify the terms of any Debt incurred under paragraph 6C(2)(xi), if such amendment, supplement or other modification
would not be permitted by the terms of paragraph 6C(2)(xi) without the prior written consent of the Required Holder(s), which consent will not be
unreasonably withheld.

 
6.                                      Amendment to Paragraph 8I.  Use of Proceeds.

 
Paragraph 8I of the Agreement is amended to add the following as the new second sentence thereof:

 
“The proceeds of the Series C Notes will be used to refinance Debt, make capital expenditures and/or for general corporate purposes.”

 
7.                                      Amendment to Paragraph 10A.  Yield-Maintenance Terms.

 
Paragraph 10A is amended by amending the definition of “Yield-Maintenance Amount” in its entirety to read as follows:

 
“Yield-Maintenance Amount” means, with respect to any Note, (a) other than with respect to the Series C Notes, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of

the Discounted Value of the Called Principal of such Note over the sum of (i) such Called Principal plus (ii) interest accrued thereon as of (including interest due on) the
Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal and (b) with respect to the Series C Notes (1) if the Settlement Date with respect to which the Yield-Maintenance
Amount is being determined is on or before June 18, 2007, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Discounted Value of the Called Principal of such Series C Note over
the sum of (i) such Called Principal plus (ii) interest accrued thereon as of (including interest due on) the Settlement Date with respect to such Called Principal, and (2) if the
Settlement Date with respect to which the Yield-Maintenance Amount is being determined is after June 18, 2007, the percentage of the Called Principal of such Series C Note
set forth below opposite the Settlement Date:

 
Settlement Date Percentage
    
After June 18, 2007 and on or before

June 18, 2008 3.50 %
    



After June 18, 2008 and on or before
June 18, 2009 3.00 %

    
After June 18, 2009 and on or before

June 18, 2010 2.50 %
    
After June 18, 2010 and on or before

June 18, 2011 2.00 %
    
After June 18, 2011 and on or before

June 18, 2012 1.50 %
    
After June 18, 2012 and on or before

June 18, 2013 1.00 %
    
After June 18, 2013 0.00 %
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The Yield-Maintenance Amount shall in no event be less than zero.”

 
8.                                      Amendments to Paragraph 10B. Other Terms.

 
(a)                                  The definition of “Closing Day” in paragraph 10B of the Agreement is amended by adding “, with respect to the Series C Notes, the Series C Closing”

immediately after the words “the Series A Closing”.
 

(b)                                 Paragraph 10B of the Agreement is amended by adding the following definitions thereto in appropriate alphabetical order:
 

“Collateral Release Date” shall mean the date upon which each of the following shall have occurred: (i) the Company shall have obtained a rating of its
senior unsecured debt of BBB – or better from Standard and Poor’s, a division of the McGraw-Hill Company, Baa3 or better from Moody’s Investors
Services, Inc., or BBB – or better from Fitch Ratings, (ii) all of the other Creditors (as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement) shall have directed the
Collateral Agent in writing, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holder(s), to release all Liens in the Collateral securing any
Obligations (as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement) and to terminate all Security Agreements, Mortgages, Pledge Agreements and any other instrument or
agreement pursuant to which a Lien has been created or arose to secure any or all of the Obligations (as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement), (iii) all
parties to the Intercreditor Agreement shall have executed an amendment to or a restatement of the Intercreditor Agreement, in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Required Holder(s), amending the Intercreditor Agreement to reflect the releases and terminations referred to in clause (ii), above, and the
termination of the appointment and authority of the Collateral Agent (except with respect to distribution of “Specified Payments” (as defined in the
Intercreditor Agreement), (iv) all parties to the Bank Agreement shall have executed an amendment to the Bank Agreement, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Required Holder(s), deleting any requirement that the Company or any Subsidiary grant or maintain any Lien to secure any
Obligations owed thereunder,
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changing the definition of “Credit Documents” contained thereto to delete the reference to “the Security Documents”, and making other changes to reflect the
terminations and releases referred to in clause (ii), above, and the other amendments referred to in this clause (iv), and (v) no Default or Event of Default shall
have occurred and be continuing.

 
“Series C Closing” shall have the meaning specified in paragraph 2H(1)(b).

 
“Series C Notes” shall have the meaning specified in paragraph 2H(1)(b).

 
9.                                      Amendment to Paragraph 11.  Miscellaneous.  Paragraph 11 of the Agreement is amended to add new paragraph 11T thereto, such paragraph 11T to read

as follows:
 

“11T.  Release of Collateral.  Prudential, each Purchaser and the Company agree that, effective upon the Collateral Release Date:
 

(i)  Prudential and each Purchaser will deliver a direction to the Collateral Agent to release all Liens in the Collateral securing the Obligations (as
defined in the Intercreditor Agreement) and to terminate all Security Agreements, Mortgages, Pledge Agreements and any other instrument or agreement
pursuant to which a Lien has been created or arose to secure any or all of the Obligations (as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement);

 
(ii)  paragraphs 3A(xi), 3A(xii), 3A(xiii), 3J, 3K, 6C(1)(i), and 7A(xv) of this Agreement shall no longer be effective and shall be deleted from the

Agreement;
 

(iii)  clause (i) of paragraph 6C(4) of this Agreement shall be amended in its entirety to read as follows:
 

“(i)                               so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would be caused thereby, the Company or any
Subsidiary may make any Acquisition; provided, however, that any such Acquisition shall be permitted only if, (a) on or before or concurrently with
the effectiveness of such Acquisition and to the extent required by the Required Holders, the Company delivers to the Holders (I) guaranties duly
executed by the parties thereto, in form and substance satisfactory to the Required Holders, and accompanied by UCC searches and title
investigations, (II) such legal opinions in relation to the documents described in the foregoing subclause (I) as the Required Holders
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may reasonably request, and (III) evidence of Company authority to enter into, and environmental assessments with respect to, such Acquisition, (b)
the Company or such Guarantor is the acquiring or surviving entity, (c) no Default or Event of Default exists and the Acquisition could not
reasonably be expected to cause a Default or Event of Default, (d) after giving effect to such Acquisition on a pro forma basis, the Company would
have been in compliance with all of the covenants contained in this Agreement, including, without limitation, paragraph 6A as of the end of the most
recent fiscal quarter, (e) the acquisition target is in the same or similar line of business as the Company and its Subsidiaries, (f) the terms of
paragraph 6G are satisfied, and (g) the aggregate amount of cash (including the proceeds of any Debt permitted to be incurred under clause (xi) of



paragraph 6C(2) or otherwise hereunder), Permitted Investments and the remaining unused portion of the Revolver A Commitment under the Bank
Agreement is sufficient to fund such Acquisition;”;

 
(iv)  clause (a) paragraph 8U of the Agreement shall be amended to delete the words “and Liens in favor of the Collateral Agent” from the second

sentence thereof and clause (b) of paragraph 8U of the Agreement shall be amended to delete the words “, other than in favor of the Collateral Agent”
therefrom;

 
(v)                                 the definition of “Assigned Agreements” shall be amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

 
“Assigned Agreements” shall mean all agreements, guaranties, contracts, leases, licenses, contract rights and rights to payment, including

purchase contracts, sales contracts, transportation contracts, gathering service agreements, gas purchase agreements, pipeline lease agreements, gas
marketing agreements and gas processing agreements, to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party.

 
(vi)  the definition of “Loan Documents” shall be amended to delete the words “, the Security Documents” therefrom.
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10.                               Amendments to Purchaser Schedule and Exhibits.

 
(a)                                  The Purchaser Schedule to the Agreement is amended by adding thereto the Series C Purchaser Schedule in the form attached hereto.

 
(b)                                 The Exhibits to the Agreement are amended by adding thereto Exhibit A-3 in the form attached hereto.

 
11.                               Representations and Warranties.  In order to induce the Purchasers to enter into this Amendment, the Company hereby represents and warrants as

follows:
 

(a)                                  The execution, delivery and performance by the Company and the Guarantors of this Amendment, the Agreement, as amended hereby, and each of
documents described in paragraph 12 hereof to which each is a party, and the Loan Documents, as amended hereby, have in each case been duly authorized by all necessary
limited liability company, limited partnership or other organizational action and do not and will not (i) contravene the terms of the Company Partnership Agreement or the
limited liability company agreement or certificate of formation (or other organizational documents) of the General Partner, the Company or any of their Subsidiaries, (ii)
conflict with or result in any breach or contravention of, or the creation of any Lien under, any document evidencing any contractual obligation to which the General Partner,
the Company or any of their Subsidiaries is a party and which could subject any holder of Notes to any liability, (iii) conflict with or result in any breach or contravention of
any order, injunction, writ or decree of any governmental authority binding on the General Partner, the Company, any of their Subsidiaries or their respective properties, or
(iv) violate any applicable law binding on or affecting the General Partner, the Company or any of their Subsidiaries.
 

(b)                                 Each of the representations and warranties contained in paragraph 8 of the Agreement is true and correct on and as of the date hereof, and will be true and
correct immediately upon, and as of the date of, the effectiveness of this Amendment in each case except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically
refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such earlier date.
 

(c)                                  On and as of the date hereof, and after giving effect to this Amendment, no Default or Event of Default exists under the Agreement.
 

(d)                                 No Governmental Action is required for the due execution, delivery or performance by the Company or the Guarantors of this Amendment, the Agreement,
as amended hereby, each of the documents described in paragraph 12 hereto to be executed by the Company or any Guarantor, or any of the Loan Documents, as amended in
connection herewith, to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party.
 

(e)                                  This Amendment, the Agreement, as amended hereby, each of the documents described in paragraph 12 hereto to be executed by the Company or any
Guarantor, and each of the Loan Documents, as amended in connection herewith, to which the Company or any Guarantor is a party, constitute legal, valid and binding
obligations of the Company or such Guarantor, as applicable, enforceable against the Company or such Guarantor, as applicable, in accordance with their respective terms.
 

(f)                                    Each of the Liens under the Security Documents constitutes (and each of the Liens under the Security Documents to be delivered in connection with
paragraph 5P of the
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Agreement, as amended hereby, will constitute) an Acceptable Security Interest on the Collateral purported to be encumbered thereby, enforceable against all third parties in
all jurisdictions, securing the payment of all obligations stated to be secured thereby under such Security Documents, and the execution, delivery and performance of this
Amendment and the Agreement, as amended hereby, do not adversely affect any Lien under any of the Security Documents.
 

(g)                                 The quarterly and annual financial statements most recently delivered to the Purchasers pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) of paragraph 5A of the Agreement
fairly present the Consolidated financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the Consolidated results of the operations of the
Company and its Subsidiaries for the respective fiscal periods ended on such dates, all in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis (subject to normal year-end
audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes in the case of the quarterly financial statements).  Since December 31, 2003 there has been no material and adverse change in
the business, condition (financial or otherwise), operations, performance, properties or prospects of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.  The Company and its Subsidiaries
have no material contingent liabilities except as disclosed in such financial statements or the notes thereto.
 

(h)                                 There is no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened action or proceeding affecting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries before any
Governmental Person, referee or arbitrator that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
 

(i)                                     The Subsidiaries owning pipelines in the State of Louisiana have the power of eminent domain pursuant to the provisions of R.S. 19:2 of the Louisiana
Statutes.
 

(j)                                     Neither the Company, the General Partner nor any of their Subsidiaries have paid, or agreed to pay, any fees or other compensation for or with respect to the
amendment to the Bank Agreement referred to in paragraph 12(vii) hereof except as expressly set forth in such amendment.
 

12.                               Conditions to Effectiveness.  This Amendment shall become effective as of the date (the “Amendment No. 2 Effective Date”) first above written when
and if each of the conditions set forth in this paragraph 12 shall have been satisfied (or waived in writing by the Required Holder(s)).
 

(a)                                  Execution and Delivery of Documents.  Each Purchaser shall have received the following, each to be dated the date of execution and delivery thereof
unless otherwise indicated, and each to be in form and substance satisfactory to such Purchaser and executed and delivered by each of the parties thereto, as applicable:
 

(i)                                     This Amendment, dated as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date.



 
(ii)                                  A certificate of a Responsible Officer, dated as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, certifying that (A) the representations and warranties

contained in this Amendment and the Agreement, as amended hereby, are true and correct on and as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, except to the extent that
such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct
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as of such earlier date, (B) no Event of Default or Default exists as of the date thereof and (C) all of the conditions specified in this paragraph 12 have been met.

 
(iii)                               An amendment to each Security Agreement and Pledge Agreement increasing the dollar amount of the additional Notes that may be issued under

the Agreement referred to in the recitals thereof to $95,000,000.
 

(iv)                              A certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the General Partner, dated as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, certifying (A) the
existence of the Company and the General Partner, (B) the Company Partnership Agreement, (C) the General Partner’s organizational documents, (D) the resolutions
of the General Partner approving this Amendment, the documents to be executed by the Company described in this paragraph 12 and the related transactions, and (E)
all documents evidencing other necessary corporate, partnership or limited liability company action and governmental approvals, if any, with respect to this
Amendment and the other documents executed in connection herewith.

 
(v)                                 A certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the General Partner, dated as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, certifying the names

and true signatures of the officers of the General Partner authorized to sign this Amendment and the other documents executed in connection herewith.
 

(vi)                              Certificates of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of each of the Guarantors, dated as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, certifying (A) the
organizational documents of such Guarantor, (B) the resolutions of the governing body of such Guarantor approving this Amendment, the documents to be executed by
such Guarantor described in this paragraph 12 and the related transactions, and (C) all other documents evidencing other necessary corporate, partnership or limited
liability company action and governmental approvals, if any, with respect to this Amendment and the other documents executed in connection herewith.

 
(vii)                           An executed amendment to the Bank Agreement deleting Section 6.15 of the Bank Agreement, amending Section 6.02 of the Bank Agreement in the

same manner in which paragraph 6C(2) of the Agreement is being amended under Section 5(b) of this Amendment and amending the Bank Agreement to permit the
issuance of the Series C Notes, certified by a Responsible Officer as being a true and correct copy of such amendment as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, and
such amendment shall be in full force and effect.

 
(viii)                        A favorable opinion of Baker Botts, L.L.P., special counsel to the Company and the Guarantors, and Taylor, Porter, Brooks & Phillips, LLP,

Louisiana counsel to the Company and the Guarantors, addressed to the Purchasers substantially in the form of Exhibit D to the Agreement and covering this
Amendment, the amendments referred to in clause (iii) of this paragraph 12 and the Agreement and the Loan Documents, as amended hereby or as contemplated
hereby, and as to such other matters as the Purchasers may reasonably request.  The Company and each Guarantor hereby directs such counsel to deliver such opinions,
agrees that the issuance and sale of any
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Notes will constitute a reconfirmation of such direction, and understands and agrees that each Purchaser receiving such an opinion will be and is hereby authorized to
rely on such opinion.

 
(ix)                                Such additional documents or certificates with respect to such legal matters or limited liability company, limited partnership or other proceedings

related to the transactions contemplated hereby as may be reasonably requested by such Purchaser prior to the purchase of the Series C Notes by the Purchasers.
 

(b)                                 [Intentionally Omitted]
 

13.                               Miscellaneous.
 

(a)                                  Effect on Agreement.  On and after the Amendment No. 2 Effective Date, each reference in the Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof”, or
words of like import referring to the Agreement and each reference in the Notes and all other documents executed in connection with the Agreement to “the Agreement”,
“thereunder”, “thereof”, or words of like import referring to the Agreement shall mean the Agreement as amended by this Amendment. The Agreement, as amended by this
Amendment, is and shall continue to be in full force and effect and is hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed.  The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this
Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy under the Agreement nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Agreement.  Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, nothing in this Amendment shall be deemed (i) to constitute a waiver of compliance or consent to noncompliance by the Company or any other
Person with respect to any term, provision, covenant or condition of the Agreement or any other Loan Document or (ii) to prejudice any right or remedy that any holder of
Notes may now have or may have in the future under or in connection with the Agreement or any other Loan Document.
 

(b)                                 Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts (including those transmitted by facsimile) and by any combination of the
parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which counterparts shall be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same Amendment. 
Delivery of this Amendment may be made by facsimile transmission of a duly executed counterpart copy hereof.
 

(c)                                  Expenses.  The Company confirms its agreement, pursuant to paragraph 11B of the Agreement, to pay promptly all out-of-pocket expenses of the
Purchasers related to the preparation, negotiation, reproduction, execution and delivery of this Amendment and all matters contemplated hereby and thereby, including without
limitation all fees and out-of-pocket expenses of the Purchasers’ special counsel.
 

(d)                                 Governing Law.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND THE RIGHTS OF THE
PARTIES SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
 

(e)                                  Affirmation of Obligations.  Notwithstanding that such consent is not required under the Guaranties, each of the Guarantors consents to the execution and
delivery of this Amendment by the parties hereto, including, without limitation, the increase in the aggregate
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amount of Notes that may be issued under the Agreement to $125,000,000.  As a material inducement to the undersigned to amend the Agreement as set forth herein, each of
the Guarantors respectively (i) acknowledges and confirms the continuing existence, validity and effectiveness of the Guaranty to which it is a party, including, without
limitation, with respect to the Series C Notes and any other Notes that may be issued as a result of the foregoing increase, and (ii) agrees that the execution, delivery and
performance of this Amendment shall not in any way release, diminish, impair, reduce or otherwise affect its obligations thereunder.
 



(f)                                    The Agreement shall inure to the benefit of each Series C Purchaser as a “Purchaser” thereunder and each Series C Purchaser agrees to be bound by the
provisions of the Agreement applicable to a “Purchaser” thereunder.
 

(g)                                 FINAL AGREEMENT.  THIS AMENDMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS,
REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR,
CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES.  THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN
THE PARTIES.
 

{Remainder of this page blank; signature page follows.}
 

13

 
If you agree to the terms and provisions hereof, please evidence your agreement by executing and returning at least one counterpart to the Company at 2501 Cedar

Springs, Suite 600, Dallas, Texas 85201.
 

Very truly yours,
  

CROSSTEX ENERGY SERVICES, L.P.
  

By: Crosstex Operating GP, LLC,
its general partner

  
  

By: /s/ William W. Davis
Name: William W. Davis
Title: Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
   
   

Agreed to as of the Amendment No. 2 Effective  Date:
 

 
PRUDENTIAL INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT, INC.
  
By: /s/ Brian Lemmons

Vice President
  
  
THE PRUDENTIAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA
  
By: /s/ Brian Lemmons

Vice President
  
  
PRUCO LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
  
By: /s/ Brian Lemmons

Vice President
  
  
PRUCO LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY OF

NEW JERSEY
  
By: /s/ Brian Lemmons

Vice President
 

 
GIBRALTAR LIFE INSRUANCE CO., LTD.
  
By: Prudential Investment Management (Japan), Inc.,

as Investment Manager
  
By: Prudential Investment Management, Inc.,

as Sub-Adviser
  
By: /s/ Brian Lemmons

Vice President
  
  
RGA REINSURANCE COMPANY
  
By: Prudential Private Placement Investors,

L.P. (as Investment Advisor)
  
By: Prudential Private Placement Investors, Inc.

(as its General Partner)
  
By: /s/ Brian Lemmons

Vice President
  
  



CONNECTICUT GENERAL LIFE INSURANCE
COMPANY

  
  
By: Prudential Investment Management, Inc.,

as Investment Manager
  
By: /s/ Brian Lemmons

Vice President
  
  
ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY
  
By: Prudential Private Placement Investors,

L.P. (as Investment Advisor)
  
By: Prudential Private Placement Investors, Inc.

(as its General Partner)
  
By: /s/ Brian Lemmons

Vice President
 
Agreed to and acknowledged by each of the undersigned for the purposes set forth in paragraphs 12(a)(viii) and 13(e):
 

 
GUARANTORS:

   
CROSSTEX ENERGY, L.P.

   
By: Crosstex Energy GP, L.P.,

its general partner
   

By: Crosstex Energy GP, LLC,
its general partner

   
By: /s/ William W. Davis
Name: William W. Davis
Title: Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
   

CROSSTEX CCNG GATHERING LTD.
CROSSTEX CCNG MARKETING LTD.
CROSSTEX CCNG PROCESSING LTD.
CROSSTEX CCNG TRANSMISSION LTD.
CROSSTEX GULF COAST MARKETING LTD.
CROSSTEX GULF COAST TRANSMISSION LTD.
CROSSTEX TREATING SERVICES, L.P.
CROSSTEX ALABAMA GATHERING SYSTEM, L.P.
CROSSTEX MISSISSIPPI INDUSTRIAL

GAS SALES, L.P.
CROSSTEX MISSISSIPPI PIPELINE, L.P.
CROSSTEX SEMINOLE GAS, L.P.
CROSSTEX ACQUISITION MANAGEMENT, L.P.

   
By: Crosstex Energy Services GP, LLC,

general partner of each above limited partnerships
   

By: /s/ William W. Davis
Name: William W. Davis
Title: Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
 

 
CROSSTEX TUSCALOOSA, LLC
CROSSTEX LIG, LLC
CROSSTEX LIG LIQUIDS, LLC

   
By: /s/ William W. Davis
Name: William W. Davis
Title: Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
 



 
Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Barry E. Davis, President and Chief Executive Officer of Crosstex Energy GP, LLC, the general partner of Crosstex Energy GP, L.P., the general partner of the
registrant, certify that:

1.     I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Crosstex Energy, L.P.;

2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data information; and

(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Date: August 11, 2004   /s/ Barry E. Davis
  Barry E. Davis,
  President and Chief Executive
Officer
  (principal executive officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, William W. Davis, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Crosstex Energy GP, LLC, the general partner of Crosstex Energy GP, L.P., the general
partner of the registrant, certify that:

1.     I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Crosstex Energy, L.P.;

2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data information; and

(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Date: August 11, 2004   /s/ William W. Davis
  William W. Davis,
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
  (principal financial and accounting officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Crosstex Energy, L.P. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned, Barry E. Davis, Chief Executive Officer of Crosstex Energy GP, LLC, and William W.
Davis, Chief Financial Officer of Crosstex Energy GP, LLC, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to his knowledge:

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ Barry E. Davis
Barry E. Davis
Chief Executive Officer

August 11, 2004

/s/ William W. Davis
William W. Davis
Chief Financial Officer

August 11, 2004
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Registrant and will be retained by the Registrant and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. The foregoing certification is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to the
Report.
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